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Company information 

Hong Kong

52% (52%)

Mainland China

21% (22%)

Global distribution network   

Key financial indicators  

Taiwan

16% (17%)

Singapore

10% (9%)

Malaysia

1% (0%)

* Inventory held at period end divided by annualised revenue times 365 days 365
† Time deposits, cash and bank balances less bank loans 

Financial performance   

Change of financial year end date   
The financial year end date has been changed. Accordingly, the financial period 2006/07 covers the 15-month period ended 30 June 2007, while the financial year 2005/06 covers the 12-month period ended 31 March 2006. The 

difference in duration of the two financial periods should be considered when making year-on-year comparisons.

Revenue by geographical market   
For the period ended 30 June 2007 

 Period ended Year ended
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006 

Change

Inventory turnover* (days)  * 54 42  12 days 
Inventory level (in HK$mn) 306 254  20%
Return on equity (%) 1% 18%  17% pts 
Current ratio (times)  2.28 2.35  3%
Net cash† (in HK$mn)  † 132 244  46%
Total liabilities to equity ratio (%)  47% 46%  1% pt 
Capital expenditure (in HK$mn)  106 81  31%

  At At 
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006  
  Change

Hong Kong  
 Directly managed outlets 41 33  8

Mainland China  
 Directly managed outlets 346 344  2
 
 Franchised outlets 205 284  79
 
 Sub-total 551 628  77

Taiwan  
 Directly managed outlets 93 112  19
 

Singapore  
 Directly managed outlets 33 29  4
 

Malaysia  
 Directly managed outlets 11 3  8
 

Other countries  
 Export franchised outlets 322 263  59
 

Total 
 Directly managed outlets 524 521  3
 
 Franchised outlets 527 547  20
 

  1,051 1,068  17

( ) Figures for the year ended 31 March 2006 are shown in brackets 

Financial and operational highlights  

Regional performance analyses  

* Same store sales growth is the comparison of sales of the same stores having full month operations in comparable periods (no comparison for Malaysia as the operation in financial year 2005/06 was not on a full year term) 

  Profit/(loss) from operating 
  activities (in HK$mn)
 Sales (in HK$mn) Operating margin (%)

Period ended Year ended  Period ended  Year ended   Period ended Year ended
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006 30 June 2007 31 March 2006   30 June 2007 31 March 2006
    

  Change     Change   Change
         

Retail  

Hong Kong  935 815  15% 18  51   65% 2% 6%  4% pts 

Mainland China  425 351  21% (34 ) (9 ) 278% -8% -3%  5% pts 

Taiwan  416 379  10% (53 ) (10 ) 430% -13% -3%  10% pts 

Singapore 245 200  23% 4  19   79% 2% 10%  8% pts 

Malaysia  18 1 1,700% (3 ) (1 ) 200% -17% -100% 83% pts 

Total  2,039 1,746  17% (68 ) 50   236% -3% 3%  6% pts 

Franchise 

Hong Kong Export  389 291  34% 114  86   33% 29% 30% 1% pt 

Mainland China  112 110  2% 8  15   47% 7% 14%  7% pts 

Total 501 401  25% 122  101   21% 24% 25%  1% pt 

Regional Total  

Hong Kong  1,352 1,130  20% 116  125   7% 9% 11%  2% pts 

Mainland China  537 490  10% (27 ) 7   486% -5% 1%  6% pts 

Taiwan  416 379  10% (53 ) (10 ) 430% -13% -3%  10% pts 

Singapore  245 200  23% 4  19   79% 2% 10%  8% pts 

Malaysia  18 1   1,700% (3 ) (1 ) 200% -17% -100% 83% pts 

Consolidated  2,568 2,200  17% 37  140   74% 1% 6%  5% pts 

 As a percentage of total revenue  

 

Retail  17% (16%)

Franchise  4% (5%)

Others – (1%)

 As a percentage of total revenue 

 

Retail  36% (37%)

Export franchise 15% (13%)

Others 1% (2%)

Regional retail performance indicators 

 Same store sales growth (%)* Net sales per sq.ft. (in HK$) Floor area (sq. ft.)
*

 Period ended Year ended Period ended Year ended   
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006 30 June 2007 31 March 2006  At At

 30 June 2007 31 March 2006
Change Change

Hong Kong  -7% -5% 5,700 7,300  22% 149,600 111,400  34%

Mainland China  -1% -9% 1,100 1,200  8% 300,000 307,300  2%

Taiwan  -14% -11% 2,000 2,500  20% 136,400 176,000  23%

Singapore  -13% +3% 6,000 6,400  6% 36,200 32,000  13%

Malaysia  N/A  N/A  1,400 1,100 27% 14,700 4,400 234%

Consolidated  -8% -5% 2,500 2,900  14% 636,900 631,100  1%

 In HK$mn In HK$mn

 Period ended  Year ended 
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006

Change

Revenue  2,568 2,200  17%
Gross profit 1,270 1,025  24%
Profit from operating activities  37 140  74%
Profit for the period/year attributable to equity holders  

9 105  91%
Basic EPS (in HK cents)  0.59 6.69  91%

Interim dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8 100%
Final dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8  100%
Payout ratio (%)  – 54%  54% pts 

Gross margin (%)  49% 47% 2% pts 
Operating margin (%)  1% 6% 5% pts 
Net margin (%)  0.4 5% 5% pts 

EBITDA  110 191  42%
EBITDA margin (%)  4% 9%  5% pts 
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* Inventory held at period end divided by annualised revenue times 365 days 365
† Time deposits, cash and bank balances less bank loans 

Financial performance   

Change of financial year end date   
The financial year end date has been changed. Accordingly, the financial period 2006/07 covers the 15-month period ended 30 June 2007, while the financial year 2005/06 covers the 12-month period ended 31 March 2006. The 

difference in duration of the two financial periods should be considered when making year-on-year comparisons.

Revenue by geographical market   
For the period ended 30 June 2007 

 Period ended Year ended
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006 

Change

Inventory turnover* (days)  * 54 42  12 days 
Inventory level (in HK$mn) 306 254  20%
Return on equity (%) 1% 18%  17% pts 
Current ratio (times)  2.28 2.35  3%
Net cash† (in HK$mn)  † 132 244  46%
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Capital expenditure (in HK$mn)  106 81  31%

  At At 
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006  
  Change

Hong Kong  
 Directly managed outlets 41 33  8

Mainland China  
 Directly managed outlets 346 344  2
 
 Franchised outlets 205 284  79
 
 Sub-total 551 628  77

Taiwan  
 Directly managed outlets 93 112  19
 

Singapore  
 Directly managed outlets 33 29  4
 

Malaysia  
 Directly managed outlets 11 3  8
 

Other countries  
 Export franchised outlets 322 263  59
 

Total 
 Directly managed outlets 524 521  3
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  1,051 1,068  17

( ) Figures for the year ended 31 March 2006 are shown in brackets 

Financial and operational highlights  

Regional performance analyses  

* Same store sales growth is the comparison of sales of the same stores having full month operations in comparable periods (no comparison for Malaysia as the operation in financial year 2005/06 was not on a full year term) 
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 Sales (in HK$mn) Operating margin (%)
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  Change     Change   Change
         

Retail  
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Total  2,039 1,746  17% (68 ) 50   236% -3% 3%  6% pts 
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Hong Kong Export  389 291  34% 114  86   33% 29% 30% 1% pt 

Mainland China  112 110  2% 8  15   47% 7% 14%  7% pts 

Total 501 401  25% 122  101   21% 24% 25%  1% pt 

Regional Total  

Hong Kong  1,352 1,130  20% 116  125   7% 9% 11%  2% pts 
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Consolidated  2,568 2,200  17% 37  140   74% 1% 6%  5% pts 

 As a percentage of total revenue  

 

Retail  17% (16%)

Franchise  4% (5%)

Others – (1%)

 As a percentage of total revenue 

 

Retail  36% (37%)

Export franchise 15% (13%)

Others 1% (2%)

Regional retail performance indicators 

 Same store sales growth (%)* Net sales per sq.ft. (in HK$) Floor area (sq. ft.)
*

 Period ended Year ended Period ended Year ended   
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006 30 June 2007 31 March 2006  At At

 30 June 2007 31 March 2006
Change Change

Hong Kong  -7% -5% 5,700 7,300  22% 149,600 111,400  34%

Mainland China  -1% -9% 1,100 1,200  8% 300,000 307,300  2%

Taiwan  -14% -11% 2,000 2,500  20% 136,400 176,000  23%

Singapore  -13% +3% 6,000 6,400  6% 36,200 32,000  13%

Malaysia  N/A  N/A  1,400 1,100 27% 14,700 4,400 234%

Consolidated  -8% -5% 2,500 2,900  14% 636,900 631,100  1%

 In HK$mn In HK$mn

 Period ended  Year ended 
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006

Change

Revenue  2,568 2,200  17%
Gross profit 1,270 1,025  24%
Profit from operating activities  37 140  74%
Profit for the period/year attributable to equity holders  

9 105  91%
Basic EPS (in HK cents)  0.59 6.69  91%

Interim dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8 100%
Final dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8  100%
Payout ratio (%)  – 54%  54% pts 

Gross margin (%)  49% 47% 2% pts 
Operating margin (%)  1% 6% 5% pts 
Net margin (%)  0.4 5% 5% pts 

EBITDA  110 191  42%
EBITDA margin (%)  4% 9%  5% pts 
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Bossini International Holdings Limited (the “Company”; stock code on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“stock code”): 592) and its subsidiaries (the “Group” 

or “Bossini”) is a leading apparel brand owner, retailer and franchiser in the region. 

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Bossini launched its first retail outlet in 1987. Over the 

past two decades, it rapidly established an extensive international operating platform 

and distribution network that extended to a total of 1,051 outlets worldwide. Among 

these, the Group operated 524 directly managed outlets in its markets, namely Hong 

Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore and Malaysia. The Group also further 

strengthened its brand presence in Mainland China through the establishment of 

205 franchised outlets. As for other overseas markets, the Group cooperated with its 

business partners to establish a total of 322 export franchised outlets in 20 countries, 

spanning from Southeast Asia, the Middle East, Europe to as far as Central America. 

Renowned for its comfortable, easy to mix-and-match, colourful and energetic style, 

Bossini offers a full range of good value for money casual wear apparel products, 

including ladies’, men’s and kids’ wear, which are designed to fi t customer needs. 

Our mission is to create

incremental value 

for the brand every day ... 

in every way

 592

1,051 524

205

322

20

Corporate profile 
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We are confi dent about delivering encouraging 

performance in the near future and bringing to shareholders 

solid and consistent returns. 
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Chairman’s letter to shareholders

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to report the audited consolidated results of 

Bossini and its subsidiaries for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007.

The period under review saw emergence of challenges as well as opportunities that provided the necessary drive 

for the Group to implement various strategies to protect its hard-earned leading position in the retail industry in 

the region while creating new avenues of development for our business to grow further.

Despite buoyant economic performance and financial markets in Asia, the Group’s core market, intense 

competition from both incumbent operators and new entrants created undue pressure on the Group’s business 

performance. Rental, staff and merchandise costs stayed at high level plus stronger Renminbi to most major 

currencies have taken further tolls on the Group’s profit.

The Group saw its revenue reached HK$2,568 million for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 (2006: HK$2,200 

million). Gross margin improved 2 percentage points to 49% while operating margin declined 5 percentage 

points to 1%. Profit attributable to equity holders for the period was HK$9 million (2006: HK$105 million). The 

Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend.

During the period, the Group embarked on an 360 degree integrated brand revamp program to inject new 

elements of family essence and values to the “bossini” brand that synchronise with its mission of caring for the 

needs of every family member from product offering, shop décor to shopping experience.

25.68

22.00 2 49%

5 1% 9

1.05

360 bossini
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Chairman’s letter to shareholders   

Encouraging responses to this brand revamp initiatives in Hong Kong had been received from customers and the 

Group’s business partners. The new brand icon and refurbished outlets effectively attracted attention from long 

time patrons of the Group’s products as well as new customers who found the new brand values appropriately 

delivered attributes that fitted well into their lifestyles.

The Group is now on its way to replicate this brand revamp to overseas markets in phases, applying the new 

“bossini” concepts around the world and further enhancing the brand image and its market awareness.

On the product front, “bossini” added three new product lines, Maternity, Baby and Young, so as to 

complement the new brand direction of “Understanding every family member’s needs”. The new product lines 

launched in early 2007 have been well-received. In the next financial year, the Group will continue to extend 

and revitalise its product lines with new high-value, refreshing product designs and functional fabrics so as to 

stimulate consumption desire.

The Group had diverted more resources in its product design and maintained the existing “easy to mix-and-

match” styles with an appropriate but not excessive touch of fashion, so as to pave the way for broader and 

deeper penetration into the mass market. To further enrich its product portfolio, starting from the next financial 

year, the Group will increase the frequency of product launches from 8 collections to 12 collections per annum, 

to maintain our product freshness with new product launch every month.

In relatively stable markets including Hong Kong and Singapore, the Group adopted a prudent stance towards 

network expansion, in line with the pace of urban developments in these two regions. Meanwhile, efforts 

were spent in improving efficiency of operations, enhancing training of front- and back-end staff to improve 

customer service.

bossini

bossini

8 12



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 7

For Mainland China, the decision was made to restructure the retail network there by gradually phasing out 

the “sparkle” label and redeploying the outlets for distribution of merchandises under other labels within the 

“bossini” family, notably a young line “Yb”. Apart from restructuring its network, the Group will continue 

to commit resources to enhance profitability from the operations in Mainland China. The Group believes that 

Mainland China will ultimately emerge as one of the major sources of revenue and profit in the years ahead.

Impaired by Taiwan’s continued economic downturn resulting from political uncertainty, the Group had taken a 

defensive stance on its operation on the island. Network expansion plan is on hold until emergence of a clear 

turnaround in consumption sentiment.

Despite starting from a low base and for about a year and a half, the Group sees promising prospects for its 

operations in Malaysia. Further resources will be committed to this market to quickly increase its business scale 

there.

The positive momentum in the export franchise business for the fifteen months under review reaffirmed the 

Group’s belief that this business will still be the major growth driver in the future years. Leveraging its expertise 

in running this business, the Group will add five new markets to its export franchise network in the next 

financial year.

With the measures and ground work the Group has put in place during the period, as highlighted by the 

well-received brand revamp program, I can foretell with well-backed confidence that Bossini will deliver 

encouraging performance in the near future and bring to shareholders solid and consistent returns on their 

investments. “bossini”, a home-grown household brand name for young and energetic casual wear, will only 

progress for better as it will continuously rejuvenate itself to accommodate customers’ needs and preferences.

I would also like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our staff for their dedication and hard 

work, plus my sincere appreciation to all customers, business partners and shareholders for their continuing 

supports.

LAW Ka Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong

18 October 2007

sparkle

bossini

Yb

Bossini

bossini
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We are committed to maintain a solid, transparent and sensible 

framework of corporate governance and will 

continue to improve its effectiveness. 



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 9

Corporate governance report  

The Board is committed to maintain a solid, transparent and sensible framework of corporate governance for 

the Company and its subsidiaries and will continue to improve its effectiveness. The Company has applied the 

principle and complied with the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the 

“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for certain deviations as specified and explained below.

Board of Directors
At 30 June 2007, the Board is composed of 3 executive directors and 4 independent non-executive directors 

(collectively the “Directors”) whose biographical details are set out in “Management profiles” section on pages 

39 to 42 and are posted on the Group’s website www.bossini.com. The Directors had no financial, business, 

family or other material or relevant relationships with each other at 30 June 2007.

The 4 independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) represent more than one-third of the Board. None of 

them has served more than nine years and at least one of the INEDs has appropriate professional qualifications 

or accounting or related financial management expertise. All of the INEDs have confirmed in writing their 

independence from the Company and met the requirements set forth in the independence guidelines of the 

Listing Rules. All INEDs are also members of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

These INEDs are high calibre executives who bring a diversified range of expertise and serve the crucial function 

of providing checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of shareholders and the Group as a whole.

39 42

www.bossini.com
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Corporate governance report  

The Board held ten full Board meetings in the period under review to discuss the overall strategy as well as the 

operation and financial performance of the Group. The attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings for 

the period is set out as follows:

 No. of meetings attended/held

Members of the Board  

Chairman 
Mr. LAW Ka Sing  7/10

Chief Executive Officer 
Ms. CHAN So Kuen  10/10

Executive directors 
Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund (appointed on 1 June 2007)  1/1

Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie (resigned on 26 June 2006)  1/1

Mr. YEUNG Kam Tai Kenny (appointed on 9 November 2006 and resigned on 19 January 2007)  2/2

Independent non-executive directors 
Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond  5/10

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han  10/10

Prof. SIN Yat Ming  10/10

Mr. WONG Wai Kay  8/10
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The Board meets regularly at least four times every year. The Directors participated in person or through 

electronic means of communication. Regular Board meetings are scheduled in the prior year to provide sufficient 

notice to the Directors and facilitate the maximum attendance of the directors. The Board members are given an 

opportunity to include additional matters for discussion and are supplied with relevant information by the senior 

management and reports relating to the Group’s operational and financial performance before the scheduled 

Board meetings in a timely manner.

Draft and final versions of minutes of Board and Committee meetings will be sent to all Directors or Committee 

members for their comment and records respectively. The Board member can seek independent professional 

advice in performing their duties at the Group’s expense, if necessary.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a transaction to be considered by the Board and the Board has 

determined this interest to be material, the individual is required to declare his interest and to abstain from 

voting. At least one INED who has no material interest in the transaction shall be present at the full Board 

meeting approving such transaction.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Company did not have a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer until 5 January 2007 and Mr. LAW 

Ka Sing held both positions for the period from 1 April 2006 to 4 January 2007. The Board had considered 

that previous structure provided consistent leadership. In order to reinforce their respective independence, 

accountability and responsibility and to comply with the CG code, the role of Chairman and Chief Executive 

Officer were delegated to separate individuals with effect from 5 January 2007. To this end, Mr. LAW Ka Sing 

was redesignated from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company to the Chairman and Ms. 

CHAN So Kuen, Executive Director of the Company, was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Law 

continued to be responsible for the overall direction of the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
It is more efficient and in the best interests of the Company that the new Directors to be appointed in full Board 

meeting, as this allows a more informed and balanced decision on suitability of the potential appointee. The 

background, experience, professional skills, availability to commit to the affairs of the Company and, in case of INED, 

the independence requirements set out in the Listing Rules, of the potential appointee will be taken into consideration.
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All INEDs of the Company are appointed for specific terms, their length of service with the Company is one year 

from the dates of their appointments which will be automatically renewed unless early termination by either 

party serving not less than three months prior written notice or upon mutual consent on short notice. They 

are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company (“AGMs”) in 

accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Directors receive an induction document on their appointment to the Board as appropriate, covering matters 

such as the operation and activities of the Group, the role of the Board, the tasks and membership of the 

principal Board committees, the powers delegated to those committees and the Board’s governance policies 

and practices. On their appointment, Directors are advised on their legal and other duties and obligations as 

directors of a listed company.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, all newly appointed director of the Company shall hold office until 

the next AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time 

being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding 

one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director, save any Director holding office as 

Chairman or Managing Director, including those appointed for a specific term shall be subject to retirement 

by rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been 

(
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longest in office since their last election but as between persons who became Directors on the same day shall 
be determined by lot, unless they otherwise agree between themselves. The retiring Directors shall be eligible 
for re-election.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are not subject to retirement by rotation. The 
Board considers that the continuity of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and their 
leadership are crucial in maintaining the stability of the Group’s business operations.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee plays a vital role in corporate governance of the Group and comprises 4 INEDs, namely 
Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond, Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, Prof. SIN Yat Ming and Mr. WONG Wai Kay. Ms. Leung, 
who has professional qualifications in accounting and financial management expertise, is the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee. No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external 
auditors. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including the advice of external auditors 
and Internal Audit Department to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated 
financial results for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set out clearly in the terms of reference which are of 
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code and are available on the Group’s website. The terms 
of reference for the Audit Committee are also aligned with the guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee met 3 times during the period to review the accounting policies and practices adopted 
by the Group with Executive Directors, senior management and the Company’s internal and external auditors. 
It also discusses matters related to financial reporting, internal controls, risk management and appointment 
of external auditors. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the interim and final results of the 
Group. The attendance of individual committee members is set out hereunder.

The work of the Audit Committee during the period are as follows:-

(a)  reviewed the annual financial results for the year ended 31 March 2006 and interim financial results for 
the 6 months ended 30 September 2006 and for the 12 months ended 31 March 2007;

(b)  reviewed the progress report and report on internal audit results for the year 2005/06, 6 months ended 
30 September 2006 and 12 months ended 31 March 2007 prepared by Internal Audit Department 
respectively; and

(

(a)  

(b)  
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(c)  approved, ratify and confirm the annual audit plan for the fifteen months ended 30 June 2008 of Internal 

Audit Department.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of reference. The 

Remuneration Committee consists of 4 INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond, Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, 

Prof. SIN Yat Ming and Mr. WONG Wai Kay. Ms. Leung is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The 

Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are set out clearly in the terms of reference 

which included the duties specified in the CG Code and are available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 

policy and structure of the Directors and senior management and the establishment of a formal and transparent 

procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

No director is involved in any decisions as to his own remuneration. The Group’s remuneration policy seeks to 

provide a fair market remuneration so as to attract, retain and motivate high quality staff.

Three remuneration committee meetings were convened during the period and the attendance of individual 

committee members is set out as follows:

 

 

(c)  

 Audit committee meetings  Remuneration committee meetings 

 

Members of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee  Number of meetings attended/held  Number of meetings attended/held

  

Chairman 

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han  3/3 3/3

Committee members 

Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond  2/3 1/3

Prof. SIN Yat Ming  3/3 3/3

Mr. WONG Wai Kay  2/3 2/3
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(a)  

(b)  

(c)  

(d)  

Management Committee
The Board has delegated to the Management Committee the authority of dealing with the operational matters 

of the Group, save for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s decision and approval pursuant to the 

written terms of reference, which includes taking in charge of major decision making in relation to the day-to-

day business operations of the Company, administering the Company’s routine resolutions and dealing with ad-

hoc matters, ensuring adequate funding and reporting periodically to the Board. The Management Committee 

consists of three executive directors and assumes full accountability to the Board for all operation of the Group.

Internal controls and internal audit
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective system of internal controls particularly 

in respect of the controls on financial, operational, compliance and risk management, to achieve the Company’s 

business strategies and the Group’s business operations. During the period, the Board has reviewed the 

effectiveness of the system of internal controls through the Audit Committee.

The Group’s internal controls are evaluated by the Internal Audit Department independently, operating since 

August 2002, on an on-going basis and covered all major operations of the Group on a rotational basis. The key 

tasks of which include:

(a)  reviewing material aspects of the Group’s key activities and corresponding internal controls with 

unrestricted rights of access;

(b)  conducting audits on the work practices, procedures and internal controls established by the business units 

of the Group on a regular basis in order to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls 

system established;

(c)  conducting special reviews and investigations into areas of concern identified by management; and

(d)  monitoring the corrective actions taken by relevant departments.

The internal audit charter was approved and adopted by the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit Department 

adopted a risk-based approach to develop the annual audit plan, which is reviewed and approved by the Audit 

Committee. It furnishes independent and objective evaluations and recommendations in the form of an audit 

report to management. Internal Audit staffs are authorized to access any information relating to the Company 

and to make enquiries to staffs concerned, and the head of the Internal Audit Department will directly report to 

the Audit Committee on the major audit findings and management responses.
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The Internal Audit Department reports twice each year to the Audit Committee and 

the Directors on significant findings on internal controls. The Board has, through the 

works of the Audit Committee and the Internal Audit Department, carried out ongoing 

examination and monitoring of the Company’s internal controls system and completed 

the evaluation of the internal controls system.

The Bossini Group Policy set forth a set of standards to all employees to govern the 

operations of the Group in legal, financial, procurement, human resources, corporate 

governance and public relation spheres, and will facilitate the ongoing examination 

and evaluation of the Group’s compliance with relevant rules and regulations and of 

the effectiveness of internal controls. Employees are expected to strictly adhere to 

the Bossini Group Policy and encouraged to alert senior management of potential 

cases of misconduct without fear of retribution. The Bossini Group Policy was first 

issued in March 2004. It is taken up for review and renewal on an annual basis by 

the designated Group Policy Committee.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Bossini Group Policy laid down a code of conduct regarding the directors’ securities 

transactions in terms as stringent as those set out in the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 

10 of the Listing Rules. Based on the specific enquiry made, all Directors have 

confirmed that they have complied with the Bossini Group Policy throughout the 

period. Employees are not encouraged to deal in the securities of the Company within 

one month before the interim and the final results announcements and prohibited to 

make use of price-sensitive information to deal in the securities of the Company.

Directors’ interest at 30 June 2007 in the share capital and underlying shares of the Company 

or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 

Ordinance (the “SFO”)) are set out on page 48.

Financial Reporting and External Auditors’ Remuneration
The Directors recognise the responsibility for preparing the financial statements which 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the results and cashflows of the 

Group on a going concern basis with the support from the Finance Department. 

 

10
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48
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The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors with respect to the financial reporting are set out in the 

Auditors’ Report on page 54.

During the 15 months ended 30 June 2007, the auditors’ remuneration in relation to statutory audit work of 

the Group amounted to HK$2.15 million, of which a sum of HK$1.77 million was paid to the Group’s principal 

external auditor, Ernst & Young (“EY”). The remuneration for EY and its affiliated firms, for services rendered is 

broken down below:

 

54

2.15 1.77

 HK$ million 

Audit services  1.77

Non-audit services 

 Tax representative services  0.15

 Interim result review services  0.45

 Connected transaction review services  0.10 

Total  2.47

Communication with shareholders
The Board is committed to providing clear and full information on the Group to shareholders through the 

publication of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. Moreover, additional information 

is also available to shareholders through the Investor Relations section on the Company’s website. The Board 

also welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting the Group and encourages them to attend 

shareholders’ meetings to communicate any concerns they might have with the Board or management directly.

Corporate transparency and investor relations
The Group disseminates information on business development on a timely basis through various channels to 

maintain transparency of its operation. The Company meets with analysts and overseas institutional investors 

from time to time so that investors can make recommendations and enquiries. The Company also holds regular 

conferences and meetings with financial analysts and investors, at which the Company’s management directly 

provides relevant information and data to financial analysts, fund managers and investors, as well as answers 

their queries.



We are well-poised to reap harvests from revitalisation efforts 

on our brand, product range and network.
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Financial Performance
The fi nancial year end date of the Company has been changed from 31 March to 30 June since the fi nancial 

period 2006/07 (for details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 February 2007). Accordingly, 

this set of preliminary results covers the 15-month period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007. It should be 

noted that the fi nancial data presented herein are being compared with that for fi nancial year 2005/06, the 

12-month period ended 31 March 2006. The difference in duration of the two financial periods should be 

considered when making year-on-year comparisons.

During the fi nancial period under review, the mass apparel sector continued to experience keen market 

competition. Rental and staff costs remained at high levels, impairing the Group’s profi tability in both Hong Kong 

and other core markets.

The management of the Group was disappointed with its results for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 as 

performance of the Group’s retail business remained sluggish and below par. The overall disappointing performance 

was mainly attributable to sub-optimal competitiveness of the Group’s product mix and escalating operating 

overheads, in particular rental and staff costs. Despite this, pursuant to progressive launch of the spring/summer 

collection for 2007, improvement in sales started to gather upward momentum.
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The Group’s revenue for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 was HK$2,568 million (2006: HK$2,200 million). 

Gross profi t of the Group for the period was HK$1,270 million (2006: HK$1,025 million). Gross margin rose by 

2 percentage points to 49% (2006: 47%). Operating profi t and operating margin were HK$37 million (2006: 

HK$140 million) and 1% (2006: 6%) respectively. Profi t for the period attributable to equity holders was HK$9 

million (2006: HK$105 million).

Operating Efficiencies
Overall same-store sales of the Group declined 8% during the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 (2006: 5% 

decline). Net sales per sq. ft. of retail space reduced by 14% to HK$2,500 from HK$2,900 in 2006.

The Group’s operating expenses for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 amounted to HK$1,246 million (2006: 

HK$902 million), comprising 48% (2006: 41%) of the total revenue of the Group. The increase in operating 

expenses was mainly attributable to surging rental and staff costs.

Operating Cost Analysis 

 For the 15 months ended For the 12 months ended

 30 June 2007 31 March 2006

 

 HK$ million  % of revenue  HK$ million  % of revenue  Change

         

Revenue  2,568  100%  2,200  100%  +17%
         

Selling and distribution costs  904  35%  661  30%  +37%

Administrative expenses  289  11%  202  9%  +43%

Other operating expenses  53  2%  39  2%  +36%

Total operating expenses  1,246  48%  902  41%  +38%
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Business Review
Network Expansion
At 30 June 2007, the Group operated 1,051 outlets around the world (2006: 1,068), covering more than 20 

countries and regions. Of these, 524 outlets were managed directly (2006: 521), while 527 were franchised 

(2006: 547).

Breaking down into geographically locations, the Group had 41 directly managed outlets (2006: 33) in Hong 

Kong, 346 directly managed (2006: 344) and 205 franchised outlets (2006: 284) in Mainland China, 93 directly 

managed outlets (2006: 112) in Taiwan, 33 directly managed outlets (2006: 29) in Singapore, 11 directly 

managed outlets (2006: 3) in Malaysia, and 322 export franchised outlets (2006: 263) in other countries. The 

Group has also expanded its foothold in India, Oman and Reunion Island. The total retail fl oor space of the 

Group slightly increased by 1% to 636,900 sq. ft. at 30 June 2007 (2006: 631,100 sq. ft.).
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(a)  
(b)  
(c)  

(d)  322 263

Notes:

(a) At period end
(b) On weighted average basis
(c) Same store sales growth is the comparison of sales of the same stores having full month operations in comparable periods (no comparison for Malaysia as the operation in fi nancial year 2005/06 was not on a full year 

term)
(d) No. of export franchised outlets is not included (30 June 2007: 322 outlets, 31 March 2006: 263 outlets)

Regional Performance Analyses 

 Hong Kong Mainland China Taiwan Singapore Malaysia Total

 For the  For the    For the  For the    For the  For the    For the  For the    For the  For the    For the  For the
 15 months  12 months     15 months  12 months     15 months  12 months     15 months  12 months     15 months  12 months     15 months  12 months
 ended  ended    ended  ended    ended  ended    ended  ended    ended  ended    ended  ended
 30 June  31 March     30 June  31 March     30 June  31 March     30 June  31 March     30 June  31 March     30 June  31 March 
 2007  2006  Change  2007  2006  Change  2007  2006  Change  2007  2006  Change  2007  2006  Change  2007  2006  Change

                                 
                                 
                                 
                                   
                                   

Retail 
Net retail sales (in HK$ million) 

935  815  +15%  425  351  +21%  416  379  +10%  245  200  +23%  18  1  +1,700%  2,039  1,746  +17%
Operating profi t/(loss) (in HK$ million) 

18  51  –65%  (34 ) (9 ) –278%  (53 ) (10)  –430%  4  19  –79%  (3 ) (1)  –200%  (68 ) 50  –236%
Operating margin (%) 

2%  6%  –4% pts   –8%  –3%  –5% pts   –13%  –3%  –10% pts   2%  10%  –8% pts   –17%  –100%  +83% pts   –3%  3%  –6% pts

Retail fl oor area (sq. ft.) (a) 
149,600  111,400  +34%  300,000  307,300  –2%  136,400  176,000  –23%  36,200  32,000  +13%  14,700  4,400  +234%  636,900  631,100  +1%

Net sales per sq. ft. (in HK$) (b) 
5,700  7,300  –22%  1,100  1,200  –8%  2,000  2,500  –20%  6,000  6,400  –6%  1,400  1,100  +27%  2,500  2,900  –14%

Same store sales growth (c) 
–7%  –5%  –2% pts   –1%  –9%  +8% pts   –14%  –11%  –3% pts   –13%  +3%  –16% pts   n/a  n/a   n/a   –8%  –5%  –3% pts

No. of outlets 
41  33  +8  346  344  +2  93  112  –19  33  29  +4  11  3  +8  524  521  +3

Franchise 
Sales (in HK$ million) 

389  291  +34%  112  110  +2%  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   501  401  +25%
Operating profi t (in HK$ million) 

114  86  +33%  8  15  –47%  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   122  101  +21%
Operating margin (%) 

29%  30%  –1% pt   7%  14%  –7% pts   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   24%  25%  –1% pt
No. of outlets 

322  263  +59  205  284  –79  n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   527  547  –20

Regional total  
 Consolidated 

Sales (in HK$ million) 
1,352  1,130  +20%  537  490  +10%  416  379  +10%  245  200  +23%  18  1  +1,700%  2,568  2,200  +17%

Operating profi t/(loss) (in HK$ million) 
116  125  –7%  (27 ) 7  –486%  (53 ) (10 ) – 430%  4  19  –79%  (3 ) (1)  –200%  37  140  –74%

Operating margin (%) 
9%  11%  –2% pts   –5%  1%  –6% pts   –13%  –3%  –10% pts   2%  10%  –8% pts   –17%  –100%  +83% pts   1%  6%  –5% pts

No. of outlets 
41 (d) 33 (d) +8  551  628  –77  93  112  –19  33  29  +4  11  3  +8  1,051  1,068  –17

Management discussion and analysis   
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Brand Revamp Program
Established in the industry for two decades, “bossini” has emerged to become a 

household label of high quality, value-for-money casual apparel appealing to consumers in 

the region. During the period under review, the Group embarked on an integrated brand 

revamp program to inject new elements of family-centric values into the “bossini” brand 

identity, making it a synonym for offering care for the needs of every family member in 

many aspects, ranging from product offering, shop décor to shopping experience. The 

Group appointed an internationally renowned designer to lead the comprehensive brand 

revamp program. A new brand icon design and revolutionary shop décor were introduced 

to provide a more enjoyable shopping experience to customers. The Group believes that 

the program will help rejuvenate the brand and enhance its competitiveness.

Launch of New Product Lines
A total of three new product lines, namely, Maternity, Baby and Young, were launched in 

early 2007 in an effort to reinforce bossini’s new positioning as a family-fit brand that 

provided home feeling to customers. The new lines received enthusiastic response from 

customers. Subsequent to the launch of the brand revamp program, the Group continued 

to implement marketing campaigns refreshing customers’ awareness of the new attributes 

of the “bossini” brand and the new product lines and licensed products to penetrate into 

different market segments.

Key Operational Breakdown Analysis
The Group operated on a global platform, with core markets located in Hong Kong, 

Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore and Malaysia. During the financial period under 

review, Hong Kong remained the major source of income, representing 52% (2006: 52%) 

of the Group’s consolidated revenue, followed by Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore and 

Malaysia, which accounted for 21% (2006: 22%), 16% (2006: 17%), 10% (2006: 9%) 

and 1% (2006: 0%), respectively, of the Group’s consolidated revenue.
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Hong Kong
For the 15 months ended 30 June 2007, total revenue generated from Hong Kong 

amounted to HK$1,352 million (2006: HK$1,130 million). The retail and export 

franchising businesses accounted for 36% and 15% (2006: 37% and 13%), 

respectively, of the Group’s total revenue. The overall operating profi t in Hong Kong 

was HK$116 million (2006: HK$125 million), representing an operating margin of 9% 

(2006: 11%).

Bossini added 8 directly managed outlets in Hong Kong during the fifteen 

months under review, bringing the total number of outlets to 41 at 30 June 

2007 (2006: 33) and the total retail fl oor area to 149,600 sq. ft. (2006: 111,400 

sq. ft.). A remarkable 4-fl oor fl agship store was opened at the end of March 2007. Retail 

sales in the fi nancial period reached HK$935 million (2006: HK$815 million). Same-store sales 

declined by 7% (2006: 5% decline) during the period under review. Operating profi t was HK$18 

million (2006: HK$51 million), equivalent to an operating profi t margin of 2% (2006: 6%).

The export franchising business recorded satisfactory performance. Revenue for export franchising 

was HK$389 million (2006: HK$291 million). Operating profi t reached HK$114 million (2006: HK$86 

million), while operating margin was 29% (2006: 30%). In the overseas franchising business, 

including the 59 new outlets opened during the past 15 months, there were in aggregate 322 stores 

(2006: 263 stores) at 30 June 2007. The Group commenced export franchising business in India, Oman 

and Reunion Island during the fi nancial period under review.

Mainland China
The Group’s focus has always been on profi tability. In line with this goal, the Group continued its efforts 

on evaluating individual store performance and reconfi gured its operations in Mainland China. During the 

15-month period under review, the Group actively restructured its sales network under “sparkle” by 

Management discussion and analysis   
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closing down 60 directly managed outlets and franchised outlets of the label. A total of 79 franchised outlets of 

the “bossini” and “sparkle” label were closed, signifi cantly reducing the number of franchised outlets to 205 

(2006: 284) while adding only 2 directly managed outlets. These in effect increased slightly the total number of 

directly managed outlets to 346 (2006: 344). The total number of outlets in Mainland China was therefore 

further reduced to 551 (2006: 628). Total retail fl oor area decreased to 300,000 sq. ft. (2006: 307,300 sq. ft.).

In the network of directly managed outlets, there were 247 (2006: 225) “bossini” outlets and 99 (2006: 119) 

“sparkle” outlets. In the franchising network, 170 (2006: 209) were “bossini” outlets and 35 (2006: 75) were 

“sparkle” outlets.

Total revenue in Mainland China for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 reached HK$537 million (2006: 

HK$490 million). Sales from directly managed outlets reached HK$425 million (2006: HK$351 million) whereas 

sales from franchised outlets was HK$112 million (2006: HK$110 million). The sales revenue from directly 

managed and franchised outlets in Mainland China as a percentage of the Group’s consolidated revenue were 

17% (2006: 16%) and 4% (2006: 5%), respectively. Same-store sales for the retail business declined by 1% in 

Mainland China (2006: 9% decline). Nevertheless, sales picked up modestly in the fi rst quarter of 2007. It is 

therefore expected that the growth momentum would continue throughout the year.



ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07

bossini

bossinistyle sparkle 2.7  

7 5% 

1%

19

93 112 23%

136,400  176,000

4.16  

3.79  14% 

11% 5.3 1.0

33  

29 13% 36,200

32,000

2.45  

2.00 13% 

3%

4

1.9 2% 

10%

26

Management discussion and analysis   

The three brands in Mainland China, namely “bossini”, “bossinistyle” and “sparkle” incurred an operating 

loss of HK$27 million for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 (2006: HK$7 million operating profi t) from 

the Mainland China operation. The operating margin was negative 5% (2006: positive 1%).

Taiwan
Taiwan was yet to recover from the economic downturn and political instability during the fi nancial 

period under review. The Group closed 19 outlets during the 15-month period under review, resulting 

in a total number of 93 (2006: 112). Total retail floor area decreased by 23% to 136,400 sq. ft. 

(2006: 176,000 sq. ft.).

Sales in Taiwan for the period was HK$416 million (2006: HK$379 million) and same-store sales 

experienced a decline of 14% (2006: 11% decline). Operating loss amounted to HK$53 million 

(2006: HK$10 million loss).

Singapore
At 30 June 2007, the total number of directly managed outlets reached 33 (2006: 29) 

and the total retail fl oor area increased by 13% to 36,200 sq. ft. (2006: 32,000 sq. 

ft.).

Retail sales in Singapore reached HK$245 million (2006: HK$200 million) 

while same-store sales recorded a decline of 13% (2006: 3% growth). The 

operation registered an operating profi t of HK$4 million for the fi nancial 

period under review (2006: HK$19 million) at an operating margin 

of 2% (2006: 10%).
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Malaysia
The Group re-entered the market and operated for about a year and a half. Such market was in its initial stage 

of progressive growth. During the fi fteen months under review, sales revenue hit HK$18 million (2006: HK$1 

million) with an operating loss of HK$3 million (2006: HK$1 million loss). The Group opened 8 outlets in the 

period under review, bringing the total number of stores to 11 (2006: 3).

Changes of Inventory Provision Policy
The Group revised its inventory provision policy during the period under review. If the previous inventory 

provision policy were applied for the current period, profi t for the period attributable to equity holders would 

have been HK$13 million less. The Group anticipates that this revision of inventory policy will facilitate better 

inventory and margin management.

Change of Financial Year End Date
The fi nancial year end date of the Company has been changed from 31 March to 30 June commencing from 

the fi nancial period 2006/07 (for details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7 February 2007). 

Accordingly, this set of preliminary results covered the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007. The annual 

report for the 15 months ended 30 June 2007 will be distributed on or before 31 October 2007.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
At 30 June 2007, the Group’s net cash balance amounted to HK$132 million (2006: HK$244 million) after 

payment of a final dividend of HK$28.2 million in September 2006 for the last financial year. The Group’s 

current ratio stood at a healthy level of 2.28 times (2006: 2.35 times) and the total liabilities to equity ratio at 

47% (2006: 46%). The Group had no bank borrowings (2006: Nil) payable within one year.

The Group’s inventory turnover days# was 54 days (2006: 42 days) for the fi fteen months under review. Return 

on equity ratio was 1% (2006: 18%).

# Inventory held at period end divided by annualised revenue times 365 days
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Management discussion and analysis   

Contingent Liabilities 

The Company has given guarantees in favour of banks to the extent of HK$433 million (31 March 2006: 

HK$455 million) in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. These facilities were utilised to 

the extent of HK$25 million at 30 June 2007 (31 March 2006: HK$24 million).

Human Capital
At 30 June 2007, the Group employed full-time staff or equivalent of 4,300 (2006: 4,300) in Hong Kong, 

Macau, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore and Malaysia. It deploys a performance-based and share option 

remuneration system and offers benefits such as insurance and retirement schemes as well as discretionary 

performance bonuses.

Outlook
The management of the Group was disappointed with its results for the 15-month period ended 30 June 2007 

and are determined in turning around the Group’s performance by focusing on enhancing brand image, 

enriching product portfolio, strengthening overseas market penetration and realigning non-performing outlets 

in both Taiwan and Mainland China. With clear mandates coupling with strong economic growth in most 

countries in Asia, the Group’s core market, the management is confi dent that the Group’s performance will 

substantially rebound in the coming year; and signs of revival were present in the fi rst half of 2007.

 30 June 2007 31 March 2006

 

 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Bank guarantees given in lieu of utility and property rental deposits  1,580 1,510
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During the period, the Group has been receiving good market response to its holistic 360 degree brand revamp 

initiatives in Hong Kong. The new brand image and color together with refurbished outlets drew public 

attention effectively. The Group will continue to replicate this brand revamp in overseas markets in phases in 

this calendar year. The programme had been rolled out in Mainland China and Singapore at the end of 

September of 2007 and scheduled to roll out in Taiwan in November of 2007, spreading the new “bossini” 

brand attributes of Family Values, Smile, Color and Humor around the world to further enhancing the brand 

image and its market awareness. We estimate that additional cost impact for the roll out of the new concept to 

the overseas markets would be modest. The management believes that the long-term benefi ts derived from the 

program will far outweigh its efforts and costs.

On the product front, the three newly launched product lines, Maternity, Baby and Young, have been well 

received. In the next financial year, the Group will continue to extend and revitalise its product lines with 

refreshing product designs and functional fabrics so as to stimulate demand, complementing with large scale 

cooperation for licensed products. In mid September 2007, the Group introduced a brand-new limited edition 

of “bossini X M&M’s” Miss Green collection. The crossover with M&M’s synergistically extended both 

companies’ common brand value of emphasis on family, riding on the perfect harmony of Miss Green’s tone 

and the Group’s new vivid green brand color.

The outlook for our Hong Kong retail operation next year appears to be mixed with both opportunities and 

challenges. The Group will continue to maintain a pragmatic expansion strategy with a strong emphasis on 

profitability and efficiency. With the sales improvement realised in the first half of 2007, plus double-digit 

growth in overall retail sales for Hong Kong according to the published statistics, the management is confi dent 

that our Hong Kong retail operation has gone through its turning point which will ignite further improvements 

in the future. We planned to open additional 2 to 4 stores for the fi nancial year 2007/08. Our export franchise 

business consistently delivered encouraging performance with double-digit growth in revenue during the last 

three months of the period under review. We expect that this trend of steady growth will sustain. The Group 

launched a well-received new “Young” product line in such market to diversify its revenue streams and 

customer base and the market response was encouraging. We plan to further expand our export franchise 

business into fi ve new countries in the next fi nancial year, which include, South Korea, Syria, Egypt and Romania 

to further bolster market presence worldwide.
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Management discussion and analysis   

Mainland China continues to be the world’s leading growth engine and its economy is expected to be buoyant 

in the coming years. With more management involvement in our Mainland China operation and outlets and 

product line realignment in progress, the management is confi dent that a modest turnaround would materialise 

in the upcoming year.

Apart from the significant reduction in number of franchised outlet by 79 stores, the realignment of the 

“sparkle” operation will continue until early 2008 to reduce operating costs, reallocate fi nancial resources and 

enhance profi tability. Approximately 40 “sparkle” loss-making outlets are gradually being phased out and the 
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remaining stores would be converted into the new young line “Yb by bossini” as appropriate. The Group also 

plans to open at least two new fl agship stores in major cities of China in the fi nancial year 2007/08.

Taiwan’s retail market is expected to remain lackluster due to political and economic instabilities. We plan to 

further close down 9 outlets in the upcoming fi nancial year, reducing the total number of outlets to 84 from 93 

at 30 June 2007. We also plan to redeploy our resources to other markets while putting our network expansion 

on the island on hold due to the lingering economic uncertainty there. With the network realignment 

commenced in the latter part of the period under review, we are quite confi dent that the Taiwan operation 

would improve signifi cantly in the upcoming fi nancial year.

The management expects that Singapore will experience stable performance in the near future. We shall 

continue to expand our sales network in the country throughout the financial year 2007/08 with three 

additional outlets. We are particularly optimistic about the outlook of our Malaysia operation which look 

promising in long-term once a considerable size of distribution network is established. We plan to increase the 

number of shops in Malaysia by 12 in the upcoming financial year. We anticipate the market will record 

satisfactory top-line growth and achieve breakeven in the fi nancial year 2007/08.

Leveraging the brand revamp program, product range innovation and effective network restructuring approach, 

the Group is well poised to reap the harvest from its efforts on revitalisation. In the coming year, the businesses 

in export franchise will still be a driving force of growth. The Group remains confi dent about the long-term 

growth potential.



Our mission is to create an ingrained positive 

and self-reinforcing corporate culture.
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Corporate culture

Bossini is a learning organization that values knowledge sharing and life-long learning. It encourages employees to progress 

and excel every day through providing them with comprehensive on-the-job training and focused programmes.

In developing a culture unique to Bossini, the Group issued a guideline entitled “the bossini way” in mid 2002 to 

share with all staff its vision, mission and shared values. It is a framework of values that encourages productive habits 

and practices of employees. We believe such a pronounced and unique corporate culture helps align the Group’s 

and our staff’s vision, mission and values, thus empowers the Group and its employees as a body to advance in a 

consistent direction.

Since May 2004, Bossini has been cooperating with the Center For Effective Leadership (HK) Ltd. to provide training 

for employees in the “7 Habits®”. The Group’s mission is to fully implement these ideals throughout the organization, 

creating an ingrained positive culture capable of continually reinforcing itself. Bossini is confi dent that these efforts 

will benefi t its employees and the Group as a whole and will continue to implement them in the future.

®
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Corporate culture 

 7 Habits®  7 Practices

 1. Be Proactive®  1. Face Reality

 2. Begin with the End in Mind®  2. Keep it Simple

 3. Put First Things First®  3. Act with the Speed of Light

 4. Think Win-Win®  4. Set Stretch Goals

 5. Seek First to Understand, then to be Understood®  5. Drive Quality

 6. Synergize®  6. Create and Sustain a Learning Organisation

 7. Sharpen the Saw®  7. Keep the A, Nurture the B, Discard the C

®

 1. ®  1. 

 2. ®  2. 

 3. ®  3. 

 4. ®  4. 

 5. ® 5. 

 6. ®  6. 

 7. ®  7. A B C

“the bossini way”

VISION
To be the top-of-mind brand leader

To create incremental value for the brand every day ... in every wayMISSION

Employees and the company are bonded by a 
commitment to serve each other’s interests in 
the best way possible

SHARED VALUES
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Human capital development has always been highly emphasized by Bossini. To ensure the Group’s long-term business 

growth and profi tability, we started an internal job evaluation project in Hong Kong with the engagement of external 

consultants to build a comprehensive job grading system and structure. It will be completed by December 2007 and 

will be extended to other countries and regions of business operations.

For the period of this Annual Report, the Group provided an average of 24.9 hours for each staff on training and 

development programs. These training programs included the The 7 Habits of Highly Effective People for staff at all 

levels, Harvard ManageMentor® PLUS (an e-learning program developed by Harvard Business School Publishing) for 

our middle to senior managers. In January and April 2007, Thinkertoys seminars were conducted to promote and 

enhance the culture of innovation.

24.9

Harvard 

ManageMentor® PLUS

Thinkertoys

Human resources and social responsibilities

The Bossini brand revamp program in March 2007 unfolded our new corporate 

image. A series of human capital development programs were implemented to 

align with our new image and extended product lines. We have conducted a series 

of new training programs including a “Service DNA Workshop” aimed to improve 

the communication and presentation skills of our staff. Professional consultants 

from Beauty Tech Institute held workshops to further energize our staff with fresh 

and friendly personal image. Experienced education psychologist of the Heep Hong 

Society was invited to conduct children psychology seminars to improve our staff’s 

communication and serving skills to pregnant women and their children for our baby and kids products.

DNA
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“Serving with 7-Habits wholeheartedly” was a series of training programs and activities aimed 

to incorporate 7-Habits into our frontline retail customer services supported by the back offi ce 

of the entire Company. Through training sessions, service slogan competition, induction 

programs, and briefi ng sessions at the front line level, this campaign marked the achievement 

of an overall average of 97% customer satisfaction rate in the“Mystery Shopper Evaluation 

Program” conducted by an external research agency company, Oracle Added Value, among all 

Bossini shops. Friendly, good product knowledge, proactive attitude, and attention to details 

were often the descriptions praised by the customers on our shop staff and services.

Social Responsibilities

Bossini is committed to being a socially responsible corporate citizen; which means investing in 

and enriching our communities and seeking to maintain high ethical standards plus inducing 

a culture that values honesty, integrity and transparency in all that we do. To only work with 

business partners that respect and treat their workers fairly. We are committed to our employees, 

to the environment in which we live and to the communities we serve worldwide.

Bossini encourages and supports employee to organise and participate in volunteer activities. 

In October 2006, the volunteer team of the Company has organised a school visit to Ebenezer 

New Hope School, a school for visually and mentally disabled students, and enjoy a joyful night 

with the students. In April 2007, the volunteer team has organised a 3-day-2-night tour to visit 

a primary school in Guangdong Province. These were the more visible activities organised by 

the volunteer team during the period. Other activities included initiating colleague to join the 

Back to School Project to help impoverished students in the mountain area to continue their 

education.

Oracle Added Value

97%

Human Resources and Social Responsibilities 
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A Caring Company

In recognition of the Company’s community efforts, the Company was awarded 

as ”the Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for three 

consecutive years. As an integral part of the communities in which we operate, 

Bossini will continue its effort in caring the people in need, actively participating 

in and supporting different charity projects. The Group is dedicated to fulfi lling 

our shares as a responsible corporate citizen. 

Other awards

Bossini has won the “Best Octopus Marketing 

in Other Retail Sector” Award in Octopus 10th 

Anniversary Partner Awards Online Voting.

10

  

Bossini was selected as the Sing Tao Excellent 

Services Brand 2006 in fashion chain outlets by 

Sing Tao Daily. 

2006

2007   

Bossini was presented with the Gold Award of PRC Consumer’s 

Most Favourable Hong Kong Brands 2007 in the Clothing and 

Clothing Retails Category which was organized by China Enterprise 

Reputation & Credibility Association (Overseas) Limited and a 

number of media and professional bodies. 



Our executives are high-calibre professionals diversified in their 

expertise but focused in their goal: adding value for shareholders.
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Management profiles

Executive Directors

Mr. LAW Ka Sing, aged 57, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Law joined the Group in 1991 and has over 

27 years’ experience in garment manufacturing, retailing and wholesale business. He is responsible for the overall 

direction of the Group.

Ms. CHAN So Kuen, aged 47, was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group in January 2007. Ms. 

Chan graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Oklahoma City University, the United States of 

America, with a Master’s Degree in Business Administration. She is also a fellow member of the Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Chan joined 

the Group in August 2003 as the Director of Finance. She has more than 24 years’ experience in auditing, financial 

management and corporate finance in audit firm, travel, property development, hotel investment and management, 

household appliances trading and manufacturing, semiconductor and retail industries. Ms. Chan is responsible for 

the overall management and strategic planning of the Group. 

Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund, aged 43, is the Director of Finance of the Group. Mr. Mak graduated from the 

University of Windsor, Canada with two Bachelor’s degrees in Computer Science and Commerce. He is also a 

member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Mak joined the Group in February 2007. He has over 17 years’ 

experience in auditing, financial management and corporate finance in audit firm, consumer electronics and 

communications products, real estate service, food retail chain and internet service industries. Mr. Mak is responsible 

for the overall financial management, corporate finance, legal, internal audit and investor relation functions of the 

Group. He is also the Qualified Accountant of the Company.

57

47

43
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Management profiles 

Mr. WONG Yan Sang, aged 50, is the Director of Human Capital of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the 

University of Durham (Business School) with Master Degree in Business Administration. He is also an associate 

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Human Resources Management. Prior to joining the Group in July 2007, 

Mr. Wong had over 20 years’ experience in the field of human resources management at various multinational 

corporations. Mr. Wong is responsible for the overall human capital functions of the Group. 

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond, aged 36, was appointed in September 2004, is also a member of the Audit 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee is the chief executive officer as well as 

founder of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2314). He holds a Bachelor’s Degree Applied Science from The 

University of British Columbia in Canada. Mr. Lee is also involved in a number of public engagements including 

being a standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of Hainan, the Vice-chairman of Rehabilitation 

Advisory Committee, the member of Yan Chai Hospital Advisory Board and the honorary president of the Kowloon 

region of the Scout Association of Hong Kong. In 2002, Mr. Lee was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of 

Hong Kong 2002” and in 2003, he was also awarded the “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons 

Selection Awardee”. In addition, Mr. Lee received the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) from the Government of the 

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2005 and was also appointed non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 

2007. 

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 49, was appointed in September 2004, is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from The 

University of Queensland, Australia and is a fellow member of CPA Australia. She has over 22 years’ experience in 

accounting, securities, corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is also an independent non-executive director 

of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (stock code: 374) and Yue Da Holdings Limited (stock code: 629) listed on 

the Stock Exchange since 1998 and 2007 respectively.

50

36

2314

49

374

629
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52

45

1137 CTEL
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45

Prof. SIN Yat Ming, aged 52, was appointed in October 2005, is also a member of the Audit Committee and the 

Remuneration Committee of the Company. Prof. Sin holds a Ph.D. from The University of British Columbia, Canada. 

He is a director of Master of Science Programme in Marketing and a professor of Department of Marketing in The 

Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is serving as the advisor for Hong Kong Institute of Marketing.

Mr. WONG Wai Kay, aged 45, was appointed in December 2004, is also a member of the Audit Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Electronic 

Engineering from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is the co-founder and chairman of City Telecom (H.K.) 

Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the Nasdaq National Market (stock code: 1137 and CTEL 

respectively). 

Senior Management

Ms. CHAN Ngan Ling Barbara, aged 41, is the General Manager of the Group’s operations in Singapore and 

Malaysia. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Sociology from the Hong Kong Baptist University. She joined 

the Group in 1994. She has over 17 years’ experience in an investment company and some leading fashion retail 

chains. She has also previous experience in human resources and training. Ms. Chan is responsible for the overall 

management of the Group’s business in Singapore and Malaysia.

Ms. CHAU Wai Man Pansy, aged 45, is the Director of Buying and Design of the Group. Ms. Chau graduated 

from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Master’s Degree in Business Administration (Fashion Business). 

She joined the Group in July 2001. She has over 23 years’ experience mainly in product development, sales planning 

and buying work in leading fashion retail chains. She is responsible for strategic product planning and buying, 

together with the design functions of the Group.
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Management profiles 

Mr. LEE Suen Luk, aged 44, is the Director of Global Business Development of the Group. Mr. Lee graduated from 

the University of East Asia, Macau and The University of Hull, United Kingdom, with a Master’s Degree in Business 

Administration. He joined the Group in November 2003. He has about 19 years’ experience in merchandising, 

buying, retail management, business development and consultancy services in leading fashion retail chain, 

multinational consultancy and software companies. Mr. Lee is responsible for the Group’s export franchise business 

and global market development.

Mr. LING Tze Leung, aged 38, is the Director of Information Technology and Supply Chain of the Group. Mr. Ling 

graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Australian Catholic University with a Master Degree in 

Management. Mr. Ling joined the Group in May 2003. He has over 16 years’ experience in information technology 

in prestige multi-national retailers and shipping company. Mr. Ling is responsible for the overall strategic IT planning, 

IT service, project execution, process improvement and warehouse management for the Group.

 

Mr. YUEN Chi Wah Sanger, aged 38, is the Director of Production and Business of the Group. Mr. Yuen holds 

a Diploma in Business Administration from the Hong Kong Shue Yan University. He joined the Group in 1995. He 

has about 16 years’ experience in garment manufacturing and retail industries, and was previously responsible 

for information system and business project management. Mr. Yuen is responsible for the Group’s sourcing and 

production activities for apparel and accessories and the overall management of the Group’s business in Taiwan.

44

38

38
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A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past four years ended 31 March 2006 and 

for the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007, as extracted from the published audited fi nancial statements, 

is set out below.

Assets and Liabilities 
 30 June 31 March

 2007  2006  2005  2004  2003
 HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000
         

TOTAL ASSETS  845,522  860,243  824,122  637,460  596,088
TOTAL LIABILITIES  (268,965 ) (272,822 ) (263,084 ) (191,775 ) (322,330 )

 576,557  587,421  561,038  445,685  273,758

Five-year financial summary   

Results 
  Period from
  1 April 2006
  to 30 June 2007
 

 Year ended 31 March
 
 2006 2005 2004 2003

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

REVENUE  2,568,325 2,199,515 2,016,941 1,783,418 1,691,443

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 36,845 139,543 224,688 145,915 (66,065)

Finance costs  (1,822) (722) (635) (4,387) (6,712)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  35,023 138,821 224,053 141,528 (72,777)
Tax  (25,829) (33,786) (42,908) (23,756) (1,354)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE 
 TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

 9,194 105,035 181,145 117,772 (74,131)
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Report of the directors   

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for 

the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007 (the “Period”).

Change of financial year end date
Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of the Company passed on 7 February 2007, the Company’s financial 

year end date was changed from 31 March to 30 June. Accordingly, the current accounting period covered 

the Group’s 15 months of operation from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007, and the comparative amounts for 

the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow 

statement and the related notes are not entirely comparable. The period of annual planning of the Company 

and its subsidiaries would coincide with the peak sales season of the Group if the financial year end of 31 

March was to be maintained, and the Board considers that the change of financial year end date would 

enable the Group to better utilise its resources and facilitate better planning and operational processes of the 

Group.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal 

subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the 

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Period.

Results and dividends
The Group’s profit for the Period and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at 30 June 2007 

are set out in the financial statements on pages 56 to 148.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the Period.

Summary of financial information
A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past four years ended 31 

March 2006 and the Period, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 43. This 

summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

 

 

 

16

56 148

43
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Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Period are set out in 

note 14 to the financial statements.

Share capital and share options
There was no movement in the Company’s authorised share capital during the Period.

Details of movements in the Company’s issued share capital and share options during the Period are set out 

in notes 26 and 27 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Period are set out in note 

28(b) to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Distributable reserves
At 30 June 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 

provisions of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to HK$163,876,000. Under the laws of 

Bermuda, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$2,682,000, may be distributed in the 

form of fully paid bonus shares.

Major customers and suppliers
In the Period under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the 

total sales for the Period.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 41% of the total purchases for 

the Period and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 20%. Save 

as disclosed in note 33(a)(iii) to the financial statements, none of the directors of the Company or any of their 

associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the 

Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

14

26

27

28(b)

163,876,000

2,682,000

30%

41%

20% 33(a)(iii)

5%



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 47

Directors
The directors of the Company during the Period were:

Executive directors:
Mr. LAW Ka Sing

Ms. CHAN So Kuen

Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund (appointed on 1 June 2007)

Mr. YEUNG Kam Tai Kenny (appointed on 9 November 2006 and resigned on 19 January 2007)

Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie (resigned on 26 June 2006)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han

Prof. SIN Yat Ming

Mr. WONG Wai Kay

Subsequant to the balance sheet date, on 5 October 2007, Mr. WONG Yan Sang was appointed as a director 

of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. LEUNG Mei Han and Mr. WONG Wai Kay, will retire by 

rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund and Mr. WONG Yan Sang, who 

were appointed on 1 June 2007 and 5 October 2007, respectively, will hold office until the forthcoming 

annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond, Ms. 

LEUNG Mei Han, Prof. SIN Yat Ming and Mr. WONG Wai Kay, and considers them to be independent.
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Directors’ and senior management’s biographies
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on 
pages 39 to 42 of the annual report.

Directors’ service contracts
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ remuneration
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group has been set up by the Board or executive directors on 
the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments payable to directors of the Company will be decided by the Board on the recommendation 
of the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and 
the results of the Group.

Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares
At 30 June 2007, the interests of the director in the share capital and underlying shares of the Company or 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

 Number of shares held,

 capacity and nature of interest

  

 Directly  Through    Percentage of the

 beneficially  controlled    Company’s issued

 owned  corporation  Total  share capital

       

Name of director         

Mr. LAW Ka Sing 1,063,091,098  30,000,000  1,093,091,098  69.42  

39 42

XV

352
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Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares (continued)
The interests of the directors in the share options of the Company are separately disclosed in note 27 to the 

financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2007, none of the directors had registered an interest or short position 

in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was 

required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and 

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures
Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares” above and in the 

share option scheme disclosures in note 27 to the financial statements, at no time during the Period were 

rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to 

any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was 

the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such 

rights in any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business 

of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Period.

27

352

27
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Substantial shareholders’ interests in shares and underlying shares
At 30 June 2007, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital and share options of the 

Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 

336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

    Percentage of

      the Company’s

  Number of ordinary  issued share capital  Number of share

 Capacity and nature of interest shares held    options held

Name       

Mr. LAW Ka Sing Directly beneficially owned

  1,063,091,098  67.51  –

 Through controlled corporation

  30,000,000  1.91  –

  1,093,091,098  69.42  –

Save as disclosed above, at 30 June 2007, no person, other than the directors of the Company, whose 

interests are also set out in the section “Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares” above, had 

registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required 

to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Sufficiency of public float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at 

least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public at the date of this report.

Purchase, redemption or sale of listed securities of the Company
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the Period.

336

5%

336

25%
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Connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
During the Period, the Group had the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which 

are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Further details of 

these transactions are included in note 33 to the financial statements.

(a) Property leasing
The Group entered into two tenancy agreements with Laws International Group Limited (“Laws 

International”) and with Bright City International Limited (“Bright City”) on 1 August 2005 in connection 

with the rental of a warehouse and the head office, respectively. Certain directors of Laws International 

and Bright City, who have beneficial equity interests therein, are relatives of Mr. LAW Ka Sing, a 

director and substantial shareholder of the Company. Laws International transferred its ownership of 

the warehouse to Bright City on 18 August 2005. The rental periods of both tenancy agreements for 

the rental of the warehouse and the head office are two years commencing from 1 August 2005 and 

expiring on 31 July 2007 and three years commencing from 1 August 2005 and expiring on 31 July 

2008, respectively. On 31 July 2007, the Group renewed its tenancy agreement with Bright City for the 

rental of the warehouse for another two years commencing from 1 August 2007 and expiring on 31 July 

2009. The rentals were determined by reference to open market rents at the inception of the tenancy 

agreements.

(b) Purchase of garments
The Group entered into a purchase agreement with Laws International on 2 June 2004 (the “Purchase 

Agreement”) for the purchases of garments from Laws International and its subsidiaries. Certain directors 

of Laws International and its subsidiaries, who have beneficial equity interests therein, are relatives of 

Mr. LAW Ka Sing, a director and substantial shareholder of the Company. The Purchase Agreement 

was effective from 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2007. According to the Purchase Agreement, the annual 

values of the purchases of garments from Laws International and its subsidiaries by the Group for the 

years ended 31 March 2005, 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007 would not exceed HK$236,000,000, 

HK$330,000,000 and HK$429,000,000, respectively.

14A 33

236,000,000 330,000,000 429,000,000
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Connected transactions and continuing connected transactions (continued)
(b) Purchase of garments (continued)

On 7 February 2007, the Group renewed the purchase agreement with Laws International (the 

“New Purchase Agreement”) which is effective from 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2009. According to the 

New Purchase Agreement, the values of the purchases of garments from Laws International and its 

subsidiaries by the Group for the period from 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2007 and each of the two financial 

years ending 30 June 2009 will not exceed HK$74,000,000, HK$287,000,000 and HK$345,000,000, 

respectively. The prices of the products are to be determined by reference to the prevailing market prices.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected 

transactions in relation to the purchases of garments set out above and have confirmed that these 

continuing connected transactions have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business 

of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms 

available from independent suppliers; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant Purchase Agreement/New 

Purchase Agreement and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders 

of the Company as a whole. The independent non-executive directors of the Company have further 

confirmed the values of purchases of garments from Laws International and its subsidiaries by the Group 

for the period from 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007 and the period from 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2007 

did not exceed HK$429,000,000 and HK$74,000,000, respectively.

(

)

74,000,000 287,000,000 345,000,000

(i)

(ii)

(ii i)

429,000,000

74,000,000
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Auditors
Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at 

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LAW Ka Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong

18 October 2007
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To the shareholders of Bossini International Holdings Limited
 (Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Bossini International Holdings Limited set out on pages 

56 to 148, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 30 June 2007, and the 

consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash 

flow statement for the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these 

financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 

to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Our report is 

made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for 

no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 

contents of this report.

 

56 148

90
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Auditors’ responsibility (continued)
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true 

and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 

of the Group as at 30 June 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the period from 1 April 2006 to 

30 June 2007 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared 

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

18/F, Two International Finance Centre

8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

18 October 2007
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  Period ended  Year ended

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

    

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand     

Revenue 5 2,568,325  2,199,515  

Cost of sales  (1,298,059 ) (1,174,301 ) 

Gross profit  1,270,266  1,025,214  

Other income and gains 5 12,825  16,616  
Selling and distribution costs  (904,248 ) (660,924 ) 
Administrative expenses  (288,621 ) (202,424 ) 
Other operating expenses  (53,377 ) (38,939 ) 

Profit from operating activities  36,845  139,543  

Finance costs 6 (1,822 ) (722 ) 

Profit before tax 7 35,023  138,821  

Tax 10 (25,829 ) (33,786 ) 

Profit for the period/year attributable      
 to equity holders of the Company 11 9,194  105,035  

Dividends 12     
 Interim  –  28,240   
 Proposed final  –  28,240   

  –  56,480

Earnings per share attributable to      
 ordinary equity holders of       
 the Company 13

 Basic  HK 0.59 cent   HK 6.69 cents    

 Diluted  HK 0.58 cent   HK 6.52 cents    
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Consolidated balance sheet   
30 June 2007

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand    

Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 14 176,349  153,334  

Trademark 15 1,164  1,164  

Deferred tax assets 25 1,774  2,672  

Deposits paid 19 61,042  48,849  

Bank deposits 21 –  15,600  

Total non-current assets  240,329  221,619  

Current assets      
Inventories 17 306,318  253,591  

Debtors 18 70,706  55,664  

Bills receivable  5,753  11,973  

Deposits paid 19 25,367  30,442  

Prepayments and other receivables  62,406  57,621  

Derivative financial instruments 20 60  998  

Tax recoverable  2,271  35  

Pledged bank deposits 21 786  787  

Cash and cash equivalents 21 131,526  227,513  

Total current assets  605,193  638,624  

30 June 2007
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Consolidated balance sheet   

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand    

Current liabilities      
Trade creditors and accruals 22 184,786  196,038  
Bills payable  23,450  22,243  
Tax payable  29,802  28,531  
Due to related companies 23 19,558  23,573  
Derivative financial instruments 20 914  1,153  
Provisions 24 6,628  –  

Total current liabilities  265,138  271,538  

Net current assets  340,055  367,086  

Total assets less current liabilities  580,384  588,705  

Non-current liabilities      
Provisions 24 1,233  583  
Deferred tax liabilities 25 2,594  701  

Total non-current liabilities  3,827  1,284  

Net assets  576,557  587,421  

Equity      
Issued capital 26 157,458  156,891  
Reserves 28(a) 419,099  402,290  
Proposed final dividend 12 –  28,240  

Total equity  576,557  587,421  

CHAN So Kuen  MAK Tak Cheong Edmund 
Director  Director 
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  Issued  Share  Share      Asset  Exchange      Proposed
  share  premium  option  Capital  Contributed  revaluation  fluctuation  Reserve  Retained  final  Total
 Notes capital  account  reserve  reserve (a) surplus (b) reserve  reserve  funds (c) profits  dividend  equity
in HK$ thousand                      

         (a)  (b)      (c)     
At 1 April 2006

  156,891  1,855  2,000  (4,987 ) 90,258  10,151  15,790  1,798  285,425  28,240  587,421

Reversal of impairment of land and buildings
 14 –  –  –  –  –  3,368  –  –  –  –  3,368

Realisation on depreciation
  –  –  –  –  –  (535 ) –  –  535  –  –

Deferred tax relating to revaluation of leasehold land 
 and buildings

 25 –  –  –  –  –  (2,272 ) –  –  –  –  (2,272 )
Exchange realignment

  –  –  –  –  –  –  5,908  –  –  –  5,908

Total income and expense for the period recognised 
 directly in equity

  –  –  –  –  –  561  5,908  –  535  –  7,004
Profit for the period

  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  9,194  –  9,194

Total income and expense for the period
  –  –  –  –  –  561  5,908  –  9,729  –  16,198

Final 2006 dividend declared
  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (28,240 ) (28,240 )

Issue of shares
 26 567  827  (402 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  992

Equity-settled share option arrangements
 27 –  –  186  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  186

At 30 June 2007
  157,458  2,682 * 1,784 * (4,987 )* 90,258 * 10,712 * 21,698 * 1,798 * 295,154 * –  576,557
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity   

  Issued  Share  Share      Asset  Exchange      Proposed
  share  premium  option  Capital  Contributed  revaluation  fluctuation  Reserve  Retained  final  Total
 Notes capital  account  reserve  reserve (a) surplus (b) reserve  reserve  funds (c) profits  dividend  equity
in HK$ thousand                      

         (a)  (b)      (c)     
At 1 April 2005

  156,891  1,855  1,309  (4,987 ) 90,258  –  15,904  1,750  236,870  61,188  561,038

Reversal of impairment of land and buildings
 14 –  –  –  –  –  10,151  –  –  –  –  10,151

Exchange realignment
  –  –  –  –  –  –  (114 ) 48  –  –  (66 )

Total income and expense for the year recognised 
 directly in equity

  –  –  –  –  –  10,151  (114 ) 48  –  –  10,085
Profit for the year

  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  105,035  –  105,035

Total income and expense for the year
  –  –  –  –  –  10,151  (114 ) 48  105,035  –  115,120

Final 2005 dividend declared
  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (61,188 ) (61,188 )

Equity-settled share option arrangements
 27 –  –  691  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  691

Interim 2006 dividend
 12 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (28,240 ) –  (28,240 )

Proposed final 2006 dividend
 12 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (28,240 ) 28,240  –

At 31 March 2006
  156,891  1,855 * 2,000 * (4,987 )* 90,258 * 10,151 * 15,790 * 1,798 * 285,425 * 28,240  587,421

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$419,099,000 (31 March 2006: HK$402,290,000) in 
the consolidated balance sheet.

* 419,099,000
402,290,000
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Notes:
(a) The capital reserve of the Group represents goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years.
(b) The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued 

by the Company and the aggregate of the share capital and the share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired 
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1993.

(c) In accordance with the financial regulations applicable in Mainland China, a portion of the profits of a subsidiary in 
Mainland China has been transferred to the reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

(a)  
(b)  

(c)  
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  Period ended  Year ended

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

    

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand     

Cash flows from operating activities      
Profit before tax  35,023  138,821  
Adjustments for:      
 Finance costs 6 1,822  722   
 Interest income 5 (5,314 ) (4,773 )  
 Inventory provision/(write-back of inventory        
  provision) 7 (4,606 ) 12,487    
 Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property,       
  plant and equipment 7 7,139  2,573    
 Fair value losses/(gains) on derivative instruments       
  – transactions not qualifying as hedges, net 7 522  (4,939 )   
 Depreciation 7 78,817  54,983   
 Equity-settled share option expense 7 186  691   
 Impairment of debtors 7 514  –   
 Impairment losses of property, plant and       
  equipment charged to/(reversed in) the        
  consolidated income statement 7 298  (5,400 )   

  114,401  195,165
Increase in inventories  (49,111 ) (53,716 ) 
Decrease/(increase) in debtors  (15,840 ) 3,464  
Decrease/(increase) in bills receivable  6,220  (7,909 ) 
Increase in deposits paid  (7,318 ) (11,775 ) 
Increase in prepayments and other receivables  (5,089 ) (26,228 ) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors and accruals  (10,634 ) 13,839  
Increase/(decrease) in bills payable  1,207  (2,664 ) 
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to       
 related companies  (4,015 ) 16,175   
Increase in derivative financial instruments  177  5,094  
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  7,278  (330 ) 

Cash generated from operations  37,276  131,115  
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  Period ended  Year ended

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

    

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand     

Cash generated from operations  37,276  131,115  

Interest paid  (1,822 ) (722 ) 

Hong Kong profits tax paid  (21,698 ) (27,502 ) 

Overseas taxes paid  (4,758 ) (7,148 ) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  8,998  95,743  

Cash flows from investing activities      
Interest received  5,314  4,773  

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 14 (106,213 ) (79,397 ) 

Purchases of trademark 15 –  (1,164 ) 

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,      

 plant and equipment  2,779  187   

Increase in non-pledged bank deposits with       

 original maturity of more than three months        

 when acquired  –  (15,600 )  

Increase in pledged bank deposits  –  (787 ) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (98,120 ) (91,988 ) 
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Consolidated cash flow statement   

  Period ended  Year ended

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

    

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand     

Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from issue of shares upon exercise of       
 share options 26 992  –   

Dividends paid  (28,240 ) (89,428 ) 
New bank loans  5,000  –  
Repayment of bank loans  (5,000 ) (15,000 ) 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (27,248 ) (104,428 ) 

Net decrease in cash and cash       
 equivalents  (116,370 ) (100,673 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  227,513  325,895  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  4,783  2,291  

Cash and cash equivalents       
 at 30 June/31 March  115,926  227,513  

Analysis of balances of cash and      
 cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 21 115,926  208,156  
Non-pledged bank deposits with original maturity       
 of less than three months when acquired 21 –  19,357   

  115,926  227,513
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  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand    

Non-current assets      
Investments in subsidiaries 16 143,162  143,162  

Current assets      
Due from subsidiaries 16 182,969  212,141  

Prepayments  224  246  

Cash and cash equivalents 21 783  265  

Total current assets  183,976  212,652  

Current liabilities      
Creditors and accruals 22 1,338  2,787  

Net current assets  182,638  209,865  

Net assets  325,800  353,027  

Equity      
Issued capital 26 157,458  156,891  

Reserves 28(b) 168,342  167,896  

Proposed final dividend 12 –  28,240  

Total equity  325,800  353,027  

CHAN So Kuen  MAK Tak Cheong Edmund 
Director  Director 
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1. Corporate information
Bossini International Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The 
registered office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, 
Bermuda. Its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). 
During the period, the Group was principally engaged in investment holding and the retailing, 
distribution and wholesaling of garments.

2.1 Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except for derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair value, and 
certain land and buildings as further explained below. These financial statements are presented in 
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise 
indicated.

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of the Company passed on 7 February 2007, the 
Company’s financial year end date was changed from 31 March to 30 June. Accordingly, the current 
accounting period covered the Group’s 15 months of operation from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007, and 
the comparative amounts for the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity, consolidated cash flow statement and the related notes are not entirely comparable. The period 
of annual planning of the Company and its subsidiaries would coincide with the peak sales season of the 
Group if the financial year end of 31 March was to be maintained, and the board of directors considers 
that the change of financial year end date would enable the Group to better utilise its resources and 
facilitate better planning and operational processes of the Group.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries for the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and 
balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, 

Bermuda
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2.2 Impact of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current period’s 

financial statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and 

additional disclosures, the adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretation has had no 

significant effect on these financial statements.

HKAS 21 Amendment Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4 Financial Guarantee Contracts

 Amendments

HKAS 39 Amendment Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

HKAS 39 Amendment The Fair Value Option

HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 

  Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

The principal changes in accounting policies are as follows:

(a) HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Upon the adoption of the HKAS 21 Amendment regarding a net investment in a foreign operation, 

all exchange differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment 

in a foreign operation are recognised in a separate component of equity in the consolidated financial 

statements irrespective of the currency in which the monetary item is denominated. This change has 

had no significant impact on these financial statements as at 30 June 2007 or 31 March 2006.

 

21    
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 4   
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30 June 2007

Notes to financial statements   

2.2 Impact of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
(b) HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

(i) Amendment for financial guarantee contracts

This amendment has revised the scope of HKAS 39 to require financial guarantee contracts 

issued that are not considered insurance contracts, to be recognised initially at fair value and to 

be remeasured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less, when 

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue. The 

adoption of this amendment has had no significant impact on these financial statements.

(ii) Amendment for cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions

This amendment has revised HKAS 39 to permit the foreign currency risk of a highly probable 

intragroup forecast transaction to qualify as a hedged item in a cash flow hedge, provided that 

the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity 

entering into that transaction and that the foreign currency risk will affect the consolidated 

income statement. As the Group currently has no such transactions, the amendment has had 

no effect on these financial statements.

(iii) Amendment for the fair value option

This amendment has changed the definition of a financial instrument classified as fair value 

through profit or loss and has restricted the use of the option to designate any financial asset or 

any financial liability to be measured at fair value through the income statement. The Group had 

not previously used this option, and hence the amendment has had no effect on these financial 

statements.

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 April 2006, which provides guidance in 

determining whether arrangements contain a lease to which lease accounting must be applied. This 

interpretation has had no significant impact on these financial statements.

(i)   

39

37

18

 

(ii)   

39

 

(iii)   
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2.2 Impact of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies
This interpretation is not relevant to the Group and accordingly has had no significant impact on 

these financial statements.

2.3 Impact of issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these financial statements.

HKAS 1 Amendment Capital Disclosures

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs (Revised)

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 

  Funding Requirements and their Interaction

1  

23  

7  

8  

 2

 8

 

 9

 

 10

 2

 11   

 

 12

 

 13

 19

 14   

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2006/0770

30 June 2007

Notes to financial statements   

2.3 Impact of issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(continued)
The HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The 

revised standard will affect the disclosures about qualitative information about the Group’s objectives, 

policies and processes for managing capital; quantitative data about what the Company regards as 

capital; and compliance with any capital requirements and the consequences of any non-compliance.

HKFRS 7 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The standard requires 

disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance of the Group’s 

financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial instruments and also 

incorporates many of the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32.

HKFRS 8 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The standard sets 

out requirements for disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and also about 

the Group’s products and services, the geographical areas in which the Group operates and the Group’s 

major customers.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9, HK(IFRIC)-Int 10, HK(IFRIC)-Int 11, HK(IFRIC)-Int 12, HKAS 23 (Revised), 

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 

2006, 1 June 2006, 1 November 2006, 1 March 2007, 1 January 2008, 1 January 2009, 1 July 2008 and 

1 January 2008, respectively.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs 

upon initial application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendment, 

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 8 may result in new or amended disclosures, these new and revised HKFRSs are 

unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

1

7

32

8

8

9

10 11

12 23

13

14

1

7 8
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or 

indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends 

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment 

losses.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business 

combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, 

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated reserves

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA’s Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 30 “Business 

Combinations” (“SSAP 30”) in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition was eliminated against consolidated 

capital reserve and consolidated retained profits in the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, 

such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated capital reserve and consolidated retained profits 

and is not recognised in the income statement when all or part of the business to which the goodwill 

relates is disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 

(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount 

is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating 

unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 

asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups 

of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs.

30

30

3
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2.4 summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it 

arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless the asset is 

carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the 

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 

the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 

goodwill and certain financial assets is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 

to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, however not to an amount higher than the carrying 

amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation), had no impairment 

loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the 

income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, 

in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant 

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or 

is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant 

influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(a)  (i)

(ii)

 (iii)

(b) 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which 

significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) 

or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any 

entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than software under development, are stated at cost or valuation 

less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and 

equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 

working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant 

and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged 

to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly 

demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected 

to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment and where the cost of the 

item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a 

replacement.

(c) 

(d)  

(e) (a) (d)

(f) (d) (e)

(g) 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
The asset revaluation reserve arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment is realised 

and transferred directly to retained profits on a systematic basis, as the corresponding asset is used by the 

Group. The amount realised is the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying 

amount of the asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. If the total of this reserve is 

insufficient to cover an impairment loss, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged 

to the income statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement to 

the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the 

asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a 

movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item of 

property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual 

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings 2% to 4% or over the lease terms, 

  whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 15% to 33% or over the lease terms,  

  whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 9% to 25%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 15% to 33% or over the lease terms,  

  whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 15% to 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation 

of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 

each balance sheet date.

 2% 4%

  

 15% 33%

  

 9% 25%

 15% 33%

  

 15% 33%
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised 

in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Software under development is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost 

comprises the direct costs during the period of development. Software under development is reclassified 

to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with 

finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 

an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 

method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance sheet date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at 

the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible 

asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment 

continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is 

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under 

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are 

credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the 

lessee, rentals payable under such operating leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-

line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Operating leases (continued)
Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently 

recognised in income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments 

cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are 

included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the income statement in the period in which they are 

incurred.

Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets, as 

appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the 

case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The 

Group considers whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the Group first becomes 

a party to it. The embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract which is not measured at 

fair value through profit or loss when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of 

embedded derivatives are not closely related to those of the host contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed 

and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 

or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

39
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 

assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 

classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, 

including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 

designated as effective hedging instruments or financial guarantee contracts. Gains or losses on these 

financial assets are recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if 

the following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent 

treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on 

them on a different basis; (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and 

their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 

strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately 

recorded.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 

and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains 

and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 

impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by 

reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments 

where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques 

include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another 

instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

(

) 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost 

has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 

not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective 

interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly 

or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the 

income statement.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 

that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 

significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 

financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with 

similar credit risk characteristics and that group is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are 

individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised 

are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income 

statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 

reversal date.

In relation to debtors, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the 

probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able 

to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the 

debtors is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they 

are assessed as uncollectible.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised where:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 

pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

• the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of 

the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-

settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing 

involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the 

case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured 

at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of 

the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

• 

• 

• (a)

(b)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings)
Financial liabilities including trade creditors and other payables, amounts due to related companies and 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction 

costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the 

effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 

through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 

term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless 

they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 

recognised in the income statement.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 

designated as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded 

derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded 

derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the 

following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment 

that would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on 

a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and 

their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 

strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately 

recorded.

( )

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A 

financial guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee contract, except when such contract 

is recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures 

the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 

37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, 

when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 

between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its risks 

associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised 

at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 

at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair 

value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are taken directly to the income statement.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates 

for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

39

(i) 37

(ii)

18
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, 

first-out basis and includes all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

With effect from the current period, the Group has changed its provisioning policies on inventories 

by decelerating the rates of provision applied to slow-moving inventories. This constitutes a change 

in accounting estimate. In the opinion of the directors, the net realisable value of inventories is more 

accurately reflected by the revised rates. This change has been applied prospectively and has resulted 

in a reduction in the provision against slow-moving inventories of approximately HK$13 million for the 

period.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 

provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 

the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance 

costs in the income statement.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in 

equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

1.3
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet 

date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax 

credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses can be utilised except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred 

tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 

will reverse in the foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.

• 

• 

• 

• 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at 

each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable 

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when 

the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 

to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, in the period in which the services are rendered;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using effective interest method by applying the rate that 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to 

the net carrying amount of the financial asset;

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms; and

(e) royalty income, on a time proportion basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 

agreements.

Dividends
Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits 

within the equity section of the balance sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a 

general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are 

recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s Memorandum of 

Association and Bye-laws grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, 

interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards 

to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including 

directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 

employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at 

the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other 

than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

(d) 

(e) 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on 

which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative 

expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date 

reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number 

of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period 

represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that 

period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 

conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the 

market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as 

if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which 

increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 

employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, 

and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award 

is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 

granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, 

as described in the previous paragraph.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings per share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and 

has applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested 

by 1 April 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 April 2005.

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar 

year basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the balance sheet date 

is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the respective employees in the following year. An 

accrual is made at the balance sheet date for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during 

the year by the employees and carried forward.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to the Group 

in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the 

event of the termination of their employment. The Group is liable to make such payments in the event 

that such a termination of employment meets the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong Employment 

Ordinance.

A provision is recognised in respect of the probable future long service payments expected to be made. 

The provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by 

the employees from their service to the Group to the balance sheet date, net of employer contributions 

and accrued benefits derived therefrom under the Group’s pension schemes.

2

2
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes

The Group operates two pension schemes in Hong Kong, namely a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and a defined contribution 

retirement benefits scheme as defined in the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO 

Scheme’’), for all of its employees in Hong Kong.

Under the MPF Scheme, contributions of 5% of the employees’ relevant income with a maximum 

monthly contribution of HK$1,000 per employee are made by each of the employer and the employees. 

The employer contributions are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance 

with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees 

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Under the ORSO Scheme, contributions of 5% of the employees’ basic salaries are made by the employer 

and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

ORSO Scheme. The rates of contributions made by the employees are either 0% or 5% of the salary of 

each employee at the discretion of the employee. When an employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to 

his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by 

the Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited contributions.

The assets of the MPF and ORSO Schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently 

administered funds.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate 

in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required 

to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions 

are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central 

pension scheme.

5%

1,000

5%

0% 5%



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 89

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The Company’s subsidiaries in Singapore participate in a Central Provident Fund Scheme which is a 

contribution plan established by the Central Provident Fund board of directors in Singapore.

The Group operates two pension schemes in Taiwan under the Labour Standards Law (the ‘’Old Scheme’’) 

and under the Labour Pension Act which became effective on 1 July 2005 (the ‘’New Scheme’’). Under 

the Old Scheme, the Taiwan Branch of one of the Company’s subsidiaries makes regular contributions to 

the Old Scheme to meet its employees’ retirement and termination benefits. Currently, the contributions 

have been approved to be made at 2% of the employees’ total salaries. The fund is administered by a 

committee and is deposited in the committee’s name with a government approved financial institution, 

Central Trust of China, which acts as the trustee. Under the New Scheme, the Taiwan Branch and a 

Taiwan subsidiary contribute each month 6% of the salaries of the employees who choose to participate 

in the New Scheme, and deposit these amounts into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of Labour 

Insurance.

The Company’s subsidiary in Malaysia participates in a state pension scheme, the Employees Provident 

Fund, and contributions are based on 12% of the employees’ gross salaries.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a 

short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable 

on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, 

including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Labour Pension Act

2%

Central Trust of China

6% Bureau of Labor Insurance

Employees 

Provident Fund 12%
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional 

and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 

included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign 

currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the date of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to 

the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 

items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 

when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong 

dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the 

presentation currency of the Company at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date, and their 

income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the 

period. The resulting exchange differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal 

of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular 

foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the period are translated into Hong 

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the period.

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates
Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer 

exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: 

(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset 

value has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net 

present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or 

derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections 

including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the 

assumptions selected by management to determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates 

or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value 

used in the impairment test.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Provision for inventories

Management reviews the aging analysis of inventories of the Group at each balance sheet date, and 

makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for 

sale. The assessment of the provision amount required involves management judgments and estimates. 

Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such 

differences will have an impact on the carrying value of the inventories and provision charge/write-back 

in the period in which such estimate has been changed. In addition, physical count on all inventories is 

carried out on a periodical basis in order to determine whether provision need to be made in respect of 

any obsolete inventories identified. The Group carries out an inventory review at each balance sheet date 

and makes provision against obsolete and slow moving items. Management reassesses the estimation on 

each of the balance sheet date. The directors of the Company are satisfied that sufficient provision for 

obsolete and slow moving inventories has been made in the consolidated financial statements.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Impairment of assets

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 

estimation of the value in use of the asset. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an 

estimate of the expected future cash flows from the asset and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 

required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 

timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The amount 

of unrecognised tax losses for subsidiaries situated in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan at 30 

June 2007 were HK$17,120,000 (31 March 2006: HK$16,274,000), HK$12,695,000 (31 March 2006: 

HK$437,000) and HK$62,648,000 (31 March 2006: HK$29,998,000), respectively. Deferred tax assets 

have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been 

loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the tax losses can be utilised. Further details are contained in note 25 to the financial statements.

4. Segment information
Segment information is presented by way of geographical segment as the primary segment. In 

determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenue and results are attributed to the segments 

based on the location of assets.

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue, results and assets and liabilities are derived from the retailing 

and distribution of garments, no separate analysis of financial information by business segment is 

presented in these financial statements.

17,120,000

16,274,000 12,695,000

437,000 62,648,000

29,998,000

25

90%



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 93

4. Segment information (continued)
Geographical segments
The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset, liability and expenditure information for 

the Group’s geographical segments for the period from 1 April 2006 to 30 June 2007 and for the year 

ended 31 March 2006.

Group  Hong Kong Mainland China Taiwan Singapore and Malaysia Consolidated
     

 Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended
 30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006
                   
                   
                   
in HK$ thousand             

Segment revenue:

 Sales to external customers
  1,352,602  1,129,195  536,627  489,491  415,726  379,404  263,370  201,425  2,568,325  2,199,515
 Other income and gains
  3,034  6,684  2,145  1,416  2,242  3,657  90  86  7,511  11,843

Total
 1,355,636  1,135,879  538,772  490,907  417,968  383,061  263,460  201,511  2,575,836  2,211,358

Segment results
 111,371  122,368  (27,675 ) 6,524  (53,832 ) (11,450 ) 1,667  17,328  31,531  134,770

Interest income
                 5,314  4,773

Profit from operating activities
                 36,845  139,543

Finance costs
                 (1,822 ) (722 )

Profit before tax
                 35,023  138,821

Tax
                 (25,829 ) (33,786 )

Profit for the period/year
                 9,194  105,035
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4. Segment information (continued)
Geographical segments (continued)

Group  Hong Kong Mainland China Taiwan Singapore and Malaysia Consolidated

     

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

                   

in HK$ thousand                      

Segment assets

 402,415  424,974  226,880  235,443  109,288  124,743  102,894  72,376  841,477  857,536

Unallocated assets

                 4,045  2,707

Total assets

                 845,522  860,243

Segment liabilities

 105,571  134,942  89,096  75,033  29,378  27,785  12,524  5,830  236,569  243,590

Unallocated liabilities

                 32,396  29,232

Total liabilities

                 268,965  272,822
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Group  Hong Kong Mainland China Taiwan Singapore and Malaysia Consolidated

     

 Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended  Period ended  Year ended
 30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006
                   
                   
                     
in HK$ thousand                      

Other segment information:

 Capital expenditure
  59,485  30,104  21,888  17,340  11,221  24,697  13,619  8,420  106,213  80,561
 Depreciation
  35,172  22,052  22,670  18,975  12,541  9,257  8,434  4,699  78,817  54,983
 Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off 
  of items of property, plant 
  and equipment
 
   5  679  1,205  1,264  6,040  593  (111 ) 37  7,139  2,573
 Inventory provision/(write-back 
  of inventory provision)
  (2,656 ) 2,918  2,529  7,287  (4,510 ) 2,126  31  156  (4,606 ) 12,487
 Impairment losses of property, 
  plant and equipment  
  charged to/(reversed in)  
  the consolidated income 
  statement
 
   –  (5,400 ) –  –  –  –  298  –  298  (5,400 )
 Impairment of debtors
  –  –  514  –  –  –  –  –  514  –
 Impairment losses of land and
  buildings reversed in the  
  asset revaluation reserve
 
   (3,368 ) (10,151 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  (3,368 ) (10,151 )

4. Segment information (continued)
Geographical segments (continued)
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 Group 
 

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Revenue:     

 Retailing and distribution of garments 2,539,946  2,147,499   

 Rendering of garment-related services 28,379  52,016   

 

 2,568,325  2,199,515

Other income and gains:     

 Interest income 5,314  4,773   

 Claims received 2,016  1,210   

 Royalty income 2,359  204   

 Gross rental income 1,671  2,447   

 Impairment losses of land and buildings reversed        

  in the consolidated income statement –  5,400    

 Others 1,465  2,582   

 12,825  16,616

 2,581,150  2,216,131

5. Revenue, other income and gains
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the aggregate of the net invoiced value of goods 

sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the rendering of services, but excludes intra-

group transactions.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:
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6. Finance costs

 Group  

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts wholly repayable      
 within five years 1,822  722   

 Group  

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Cost of sales:     
 Cost of inventories sold 1,302,665  1,161,814   

 Inventory provision/(write-back of inventory provision) (4,606 ) 12,487   

 1,298,059  1,174,301

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration – note 8):     8

 Salaries and wages 425,618  317,902   

 Equity-settled share option expense 186  691   

 Pension scheme contributions 25,087  17,241   

 Less: Forfeited contributions (431 ) –   

 Net pension scheme contributions (note a) 24,656  17,241   a

 450,460  335,834

7. Profit before tax
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
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7. Profit before tax (continued)
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
 Group 
 

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Depreciation 78,817  54,983  

Minimum lease payments under operating leases:     

 Land and buildings 386,420  264,901   

 Contingent rents of retail shops and department stores 61,619  53,368   

 Plant and machinery 848  732   

Auditors’ remuneration 2,616  1,890  

Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant      

 and equipment 7,139  2,573   

Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment      

 charged to/(reversed in) the consolidated income       

 statement (note b) 298  (5,400 )  b

Impairment of debtors 514  –  

Foreign exchange differences, net (10,384 ) (3,873 ) 

Net rental income (197 ) (104 ) 

Fair value losses/(gains) on derivative instruments     

 – transactions not qualifying as hedges, net 522  (4,939 )  

Notes:

(a) As at 30 June 2007, forfeited contributions available to the Group to reduce its contributions to the ORSO 
Scheme in future years amounted to HK$235,000 (31 March 2006: HK$513,000).

(b) The impairment losses of property, plant and equipment reversed in the consolidated income statement in the 
previous year were included in “Other income and gains” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

(a) 
235,000 513,000

(b) 
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8. Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the period, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

 Group 
 

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Executive directors:     

 Fees –  –   

 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,604  9,044   

 Performance related bonuses 728  456   

 Employee share option benefits (182 ) 362   

 Pension scheme contributions 37  58   

 Compensation for loss of office 507  600   

 8,694  10,520

Independent non-executive directors:     

 Fees 731  440   

 9,425  10,960

During the period, no share options were granted to the directors in respect of their services to the 

Group under the share option scheme of the Company. The fair value of share options granted to 

directors after 7 November 2002 that had not yet vested as at 1 April 2005, which has been recognised 

to the income statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the 

amount included in the financial statements for the current period is included in the above directors’ 

remuneration disclosures.

161
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the period were as follows:

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han 281  180  

Mr. WONG Wai Kay 225  180  

Prof. SIN Yat Ming 225  80  

Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond –  –  

 731  440

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the 

period (year ended 31 March 2006: Nil). Mr. LEE Man Chun Raymond waived or agreed to waive 

remuneration of HK$225,000 during the period (year ended 31 March 2006: HK$180,000). 225,000

180,000
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)
(b) Executive directors

   Salaries,

   allowances  Performance  Employee  Pension  Compensation

   and benefits  related  share option  scheme  for loss of  Total

 Fees  in kind  bonuses  benefits  contributions  office  remuneration

    

in HK$ thousand   

Period ended 30 June 2007               
                

Executive directors:               
 Mr. LAW Ka Sing –  3,546  262  –  15  –  3,823   
 Ms. CHAN So Kuen –  3,040  328  112  15  –  3,495   
 Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund                a

  (note a) –  130  –  –  1  –  131
 Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie (note b) –  514  138  (294 ) 4  147  509   b

 Mr. YEUNG Kam Tai Kenny (note c) –  374  –  –  2  360  736   c

 –  7,604  728  (182 ) 37  507  8,694

Year ended 31 March 2006               
                

Executive directors:               
 Mr. LAW Ka Sing –  3,253  –  –  12  –  3,265   
 Ms. CHAN So Kuen –  1,807  148  101  12  –  2,068   
 Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie (note b) –  1,693  138  101  12  –  1,944   b

 Ms. CHAU Wai Man Pansy (note d) –  1,209  101  80  10  –  1,400   d

 Mr. ORR Kuen Fung Simon (note e) –  870  69  80  10  –  1,029   e

 Mr. FUNG Ping Chuen (note f) –  212  –  –  2  600  814   f

 –  9,044  456  362  58  600  10,520
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8. Directors’ remuneration (continued)
(b) Executive directors (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. MAK Tak Cheong Edmund was appointed as an executive director on 1 June 2007 and prior to that, he 
was appointed as a senior management of the Group.

(b) Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie resigned as an executive director on 26 June 2006.

(c) Mr. YEUNG Kam Tai Kenny was appointed as an executive director on 9 November 2006 and resigned on 
19 January 2007, and prior to that period, he was appointed as a senior management of the Group.

(d) Ms. CHAU Wai Man Pansy resigned as an executive director on 12 January 2006 but remained as a senior 
management of the Group at 30 June 2007.

(e) Mr. ORR Kuen Fung Simon resigned as an executive director on 12 January 2006 but remained as a senior 
management of the Group until 17 February 2007.

(f) Mr. FUNG Ping Chuen resigned as an executive director on 1 June 2005.

There was no arrangement under which an executive director waived or agreed to waive any 

remuneration during the period.

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 
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9. Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the period included two (year ended 31 March 2006: three) 

directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the 

remaining three (year ended 31 March 2006: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the period 

are as follows:

 Group 
 

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,438  2,979  

Performance related bonuses 709  228  

Employee share option benefits 269  173  

Pension scheme contributions 156  71  

 6,572  3,451

8
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9. Five highest paid employees (continued)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands 

is as follows:

 Group 

 Number of employees 
 

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

     

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1  2  1,500,001 2,000,000

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2  –  2,000,001 2,500,000

 3  2

During the period, no share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid employees in respect 

of their services to the Group under the share option scheme of the Company. The fair value of the 

share options granted after 7 November 2002 but had not yet vested as at 1 April 2005, which has been 

recognised to the income statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant 

and the amount included in the financial statements for the current period is included in the above non-

director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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10. Tax
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (year ended 31 March 2006: 17.5%) 

on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the period. Taxes on profits assessable 

elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the 

Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Group:     

 Current – Hong Kong      

  Charge for the period/year 17,654  21,697    

  Overprovision in prior years (210 ) (324 )   

 Current – Elsewhere      

  Charge for the period/year 7,582  11,589    

  Underprovision in prior years 320  365    

 Deferred (note 25) 483  459   25

Tax charge for the period/year 25,829  33,786  

17.5%

17.5%
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10. Tax (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax using the statutory rate for the 

countries/jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax 

expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to 

the effective tax rate, are as follows:

 Group 

 Period ended     Year ended

 30 June 2007     31 March 2006

 

     

in HK$ thousand   %    %  

Profit before tax 35,023    138,821    

Tax at the statutory tax rate 6,129  17.5  24,294  17.5  

Effect of different tax rates for companies         

 operating in other jurisdictions (5,790 ) (16.5 ) 1,942  1.4   

Adjustments in respect of current tax of         

 previous periods 110  0.3  41  –   

Income not subject to tax (3,652 ) (10.4 ) (3,634 ) (2.6 ) 

Expenses not deductible for tax 6,150  17.6  4,858  3.5  

Unrecognised tax losses and temporary          

 differences 21,813  62.2  5,832  4.2   

Tax losses utilised from previous periods (1,050 ) (3.0 ) (367 ) (0.3 ) 

Others 2,119  6.0  820  0.6  

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 25,829  73.7  33,786  24.3  
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10. Tax (continued)
On 16 March 2007, the 10th National People’s Congress approved the Corporate Income Tax Law of the 

PRC (the “New Corporate Income Tax Law”), which will become effective from 1 January 2008. The New 

Corporate Income Tax Law introduces a wide range of changes which include, but are not limited to, 

the unification of the corporate income tax (the “CIT”) rate for domestic-invested and foreign invested 

enterprises at a rate of 25%. This change in the CIT rate will directly offset the Group’s effective tax rate 

prospectively from 2008.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, detailed implementation and administrative 

requirements relating to the New Corporate Income Tax Law have yet to be announced. These detailed 

requirements include regulations concerning the computation of taxable income, as well as specific 

preferential tax treatments and their related transitional provisions. The Group will further evaluate the 

impact on its operating results and financial positions of future periods as more detailed requirements 

are issued.

11. Profit from ordinary activities attributable to equity holders of the Company
The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the period from 1 April 2006 

to 30 June 2007 includes a loss of HK$165,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: profit of HK$54,729,000), 

which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 28(b)).

25%

165,000

54,729,000

28(b)
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12. Dividends

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

   

in HK$ thousand     

Interim – Nil (year ended 31 March 2006: HK1.8 cents     

 per ordinary share) –  28,240   1.8

Proposed final – Nil (year ended 31 March 2006:      

 HK1.8 cents per ordinary share) –  28,240   1.8

 –  56,480

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the period attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Company of HK$9,194,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: HK$105,035,000), and 

the weighted average of 1,570,535,280 (year ended 31 March 2006: number of ordinary shares of 

1,568,911,394) ordinary shares in issue during the period.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit for the period attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Company of HK$9,194,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: HK$105,035,000). The 

weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the 1,570,535,280 (year ended 

31 March 2006: number of ordinary shares of 1,568,911,394) ordinary shares in issue during the period, 

as used in the basic earnings per share calculation and the weighted average number of 26,684,740 (year 

ended 31 March 2006: 41,323,712) ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on 

the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

9,194,000

105,035,000 1,570,535,280

1,568,911,394

9,194,000

105,035,000

1,570,535,280

 1,568,911,394

26,684,740

41,323,712
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14. Property, plant and equipment
Group
       Furniture,
       fixtures    Software
 Land and  Leasehold  Plant and  and office  Motor  under
 buildings  improvements  machinery  equipment  vehicles  development  Total

in HK$ thousand

30 June 2007               

At 31 March 2006 and               
 at 1 April 2006:                
  Cost or valuation 82,154  265,073  12,369  105,733  3,988  2,177  471,494    
  Accumulated depreciation                 
   and impairment (26,633 ) (203,046 ) (3,461 ) (81,738 ) (3,282 ) –  (318,160 )    

  Net carrying amount 55,521  62,027  8,908  23,995  706  2,177  153,334    

At 1 April 2006, net of accumulated               
 depreciation and impairment 55,521  62,027  8,908  23,995  706  2,177  153,334   
Additions –  84,979  418  20,501  315  –  106,213  
Disposals/write-off –  (7,876 ) (1,580 ) (448 ) (14 ) –  (9,918 ) 
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment               
 during the period 3,368  (278 ) –  (20 ) –  –  3,070   
Depreciation provided during the                
 period (2,956 ) (59,123 ) (846 ) (15,640 ) (252 ) –  (78,817 )  
Transfers –  –  –  2,177  –  (2,177 ) –  
Exchange realignment –  1,240  494  694  39  –  2,467  

At 30 June 2007, net of accumulated               
 depreciation and impairment 55,933  80,969  7,394  31,259  794  –  176,349   

At 30 June 2007:               
 Cost or valuation 82,154  305,753  11,730  127,300  2,772  –  529,709   
 Accumulated depreciation                
  and impairment (26,221 ) (224,784 ) (4,336 ) (96,041 ) (1,978 ) –  (353,360 )   

 Net carrying amount 55,933  80,969  7,394  31,259  794  –  176,349   

Analysis of cost or valuation:               
 At cost 42,154  305,753  11,730  127,300  2,772  –  489,709   
 At 31 July 1993 valuation 40,000  –  –  –  –  –  40,000   

 82,154  305,753  11,730  127,300  2,772  –  529,709
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Group

       Furniture,
       fixtures    Software
 Land and  Leasehold  Plant and  and office  Motor  under
 buildings  improvements  machinery  equipment  vehicles  development  Total

in HK$ thousand

31 March 2006               

At 1 April 2005:               
 Cost or valuation 82,154  247,367  11,315  92,626  4,124  –  437,586   
 Accumulated depreciation                
  and impairment (39,820 ) (202,453 ) (2,411 ) (73,804 ) (3,689 ) –  (322,177 )   

 Net carrying amount 42,334  44,914  8,904  18,822  435  –  115,409   

At 1 April 2005, net of accumulated               
 depreciation and impairment 42,334  44,914  8,904  18,822  435  –  115,409   
Additions –  61,522  696  14,494  508  2,177  79,397  
Disposals/write-off –  (2,444 ) –  (276 ) (40 ) –  (2,760 ) 
Reversal of impairment during                 
 the year 15,551  –  –  –  –  –  15,551   
Depreciation provided during                
 the year (2,364 ) (42,074 ) (927 ) (9,253 ) (365 ) –  (54,983 )  
Exchange realignment –  109  235  208  168  –  720  

At 31 March 2006, net of                
 accumulated depreciation                  
 and impairment 55,521  62,027  8,908  23,995  706  2,177  153,334    

At 31 March 2006:               
 Cost or valuation 82,154  265,073  12,369  105,733  3,988  2,177  471,494   
 Accumulated depreciation                
  and impairment (26,633 ) (203,046 ) (3,461 ) (81,738 ) (3,282 ) –  (318,160 )   

 Net carrying amount 55,521  62,027  8,908  23,995  706  2,177  153,334   

Analysis of cost or valuation:               
 At cost 42,154  265,073  12,369  105,733  3,988  2,177  431,494   
 At 31 July 1993 valuation 40,000  –  –  –  –  –  40,000   

 82,154  265,073  12,369  105,733  3,988  2,177  471,494
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The Group’s land and buildings are held under medium term leases and are situated in:

 At cost  At valuation  Total

in HK$ thousand   

Hong Kong 21,654  40,000  61,654  

Elsewhere 20,500  –  20,500  

 42,154  40,000  82,154

Certain land and buildings were revalued at 31 July 1993 by Chesterton Petty Limited, independent 

professionally qualified valuers, on an open market, existing use basis. Since 1994, no further 

revaluations of the Group’s land and buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied upon the 

exemption granted under the transitional provision in paragraph 80A of HKAS 16, from the requirement 

to carry out future revaluation of its property, plant and equipment which were stated at valuation at 

that time.

At 30 June 2007, had the Group’s revalued land and buildings been carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses, they would have been included in the financial statements at 

approximately HK$14,413,000 (31 March 2006: HK$15,265,000).

Certain land and buildings were revalued at the balance sheet date by RHL Appraisal Limited, 

independent professionally qualified valuers, based on open market basis assuming sale with vacant 

possession, at an aggregate open market value of HK$50,300,000 (31 March 2006: HK$38,600,000). 

Impairment losses of HK$3,368,000 provided for these land and buildings were reversed during the 

period, resulting from the above valuations, has been credited to the asset revaluation reserve.

16 80A

14,413,000 15,265,000

50,300,000 38,600,000

3,368,000
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15. Trademark

 Group

in HK$ thousand   

30 June 2007   
Cost at 1 April 2006 and at 30 June 2007,    

 net of accumulated impairment 1,164   

At 30 June 2007:   

 Cost 1,164   

 Accumulated impairment –   

 Net carrying amount 1,164   

31 March 2006   
At 1 April 2005, net of accumulated impairment:   

 Cost –   

 Additions – acquired separately 1,164   

 Net carrying amount 1,164   

At 31 March 2006:   

 Cost 1,164   

 Accumulated impairment –   

 Net carrying amount 1,164   
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15. Trademark (continued)
Indefinite useful life
The Group classified the acquired “bossini” trademark as an intangible asset with indefinite life in 

accordance with HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. This is supported by the fact that the “bossini” trademark 

is well known and long established, and its legal rights are capable of being renewed indefinitely at 

insignificant cost and are therefore perpetual in duration. Based on the anticipated future financial 

performance of the Group, the trademark is expected to generate positive cash flows indefinitely. Under 

HKAS 38, the Group re-evaluates the useful life of the “bossini” trademark each year to determine 

whether events or circumstances continue to support the view of the indefinite useful life of the asset.

Impairment
In accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group completed its annual impairment test for 

the “bossini” trademark by comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount as at 30 June 2007. 

The Group has conducted a valuation of the “bossini” trademark as one corporate asset based on the 

value in use calculation for the Indonesian market. The resulting value of the “bossini” trademark as at 

30 June 2007 was significantly higher than its carrying amount. This valuation uses cash flow projections 

based on financial estimates covering a three-year period, the expected sales deriving from the “bossini” 

trademark in the Indonesian market and a discount rate of 10.3%. The cash flows beyond the three-

year period are extrapolated using a steady 15% growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the 

long term average growth rate for apparel markets in which the Group operates. Management has 

considered the above assumptions and valuation and also taken into account the business expansion 

plan going forward, the current wholesale order books and the strategic retail expansion in Indonesia 

and believes that there is no impairment in the “bossini” trademark. Management believes that any 

reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions would not cause the aggregate 

carrying amount of the trademark to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

38 bossini

bossini

38 bossini

36 bossini

bossini

bossini

bossini

10.3% 15%

bossini
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16. Interests in subsidiaries

 Company 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Unlisted shares, at cost 193,962  193,962  

Provision for impairment (50,800 ) (50,800 ) 

 143,162  143,162  

Due from subsidiaries 182,969  212,141  

 326,131  355,303

The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the Company’s current assets are unsecured, interest-free 

and are repayable on demand or within one year. The carrying amounts approximate to their fair values.



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 115

16. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

 Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of 

 registration and issued/registered Percentage of equity

Name  operations  share capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities

   
   Direct  Indirect

Active Link Limited (note a) Hong Kong HK$ 5,000,000  – 100 Retailing and wholesaling of garments

a      

Bossini Clothing Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Bossini Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$ 1  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Bossini Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Bossini Garment Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Distribution of garments

     

Bossini Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$11,928  100 – Investment holding

     

Burling Limited British Virgin Islands US$100  – 100 Licensing of trademarks

     



ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07116

30 June 2007

Notes to financial statements   

16. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

 Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of 

 registration and issued/registered Percentage of equity

Name  operations  share capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities

   
   Direct  Indirect

 People’s Republic of China  RMB 1,010,000  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments
 (notes b and d) (“PRC”)/Mainland China    

  b d   

   

J & R Bossini Fashion Pte Ltd Singapore S$2,000,000  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

J & R Bossini Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Investment holding

     

Kacono Trading Limited British Virgin Islands HK$ 2,000  – 100 Investment holding

     

Key Value Trading Limited British Virgin Islands US$100  – 100 Investment holding

     

Land Challenger Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Sub-contracting of garments

     

Langzhi Fashion (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China HK$ 6,600,000  – 100 Manufacture and sub-contracting 

 (notes c and d)     of garments

 c d      
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 Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of 

 registration and issued/registered Percentage of equity

Name  operations  share capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities

   
   Direct  Indirect

Lead Commence Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Luhur Daya Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM$ 2  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Onmay International Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Retailing and distribution of garments

     

Rapid City Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Property holding and letting

     

Sun View Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$ 2  – 100 Property holding and letting

      

16. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results for the period or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To 

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive 

length.
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16. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(a) The branch of this subsidiary in Taiwan was not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other Ernst & Young 
International member firms.

(b)  is a limited liability enterprise established in the PRC which obtained its business 
registration certificate on 14 July 1993.

(c) Langzhi Fashion (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned foreign investment enterprise with limited liability 
established in the PRC which obtained its business registration certificate on 14 June 1993 and is licensed to 
conduct business for 25 years from the date of its business registration.

(d) These subsidiaries were not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other Ernst & Young International member 
firms.

17. Inventories

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Raw materials 3,543  2,304  

Finished goods 302,775  251,287  

 306,318  253,591

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

25

(d) 

17. 
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18. Debtors
Other than cash and credit card sales, the Group normally grants credit periods of up to 60 days to its 

trade customers. Each trade customer has a maximum credit limit, except for new trade customers, 

where payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its 

outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the 

aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade customers relate to a large number of diversified 

customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade debtors are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of debtors as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

0 to 30 days 47,743  45,364  0 30

31 to 60 days 15,421  8,097  31 60

61 to 90 days 4,087  1,250  61 90

Over 90 days 3,455  953  90

 70,706  55,664

The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate to their fair values.

60
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19. Deposits paid

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Rental deposits 86,409  79,291  

Less: Non-current portion (61,042 ) (48,849 ) 

Current portion 25,367  30,442  

The rental deposits are paid for operating leases in respect of land and buildings, and are negotiated for 

terms ranging from one to eleven years. The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate to their fair 

values.

1

11
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20. Derivative financial instruments
Group
 30 June 2007

  
 Assets  Liabilities

in HK$ thousand   

Forward currency contracts 60  914  

 31 March 2006

  
 Assets  Liabilities

in HK$ thousand  

Forward currency contracts 998  1,153  

The carrying amounts of the forward currency contracts are the same as their fair values.

During the period, the Group entered into various forward currency contracts to manage its exchange 
rate exposures which did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. Losses in the fair value of non-
hedging currency derivatives amounting to HK$522,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: gains of 
HK$4,939,000) were charged to the income statement during the period. At 30 June 2007, the terms of 
the forward currency contracts held by the Group to hedge the expected future sales are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity Exchange rate

  

Sell 

New Taiwan dollar (“TWD”) 340,000,000 July – December 2007 TWD/USD32.477 – 33.51
340,000,000   / 32.477-33.51

Singapore dollar (“SGD”) 9,000,000 July – December 2007 SGD/USD1.5156 – 1.53
9,000,000   / 1.5156-1.53

522,000

4,939,000



ANNUAL REPORT 2006/07122

30 June 2007

Notes to financial statements   

21. Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits

 Group  Company 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

       

in HK$ thousand         

Cash and bank balances 115,926  208,156  783  265  

Non-pledged bank deposits 15,600  34,957  –  –  

Pledged bank deposits 786  787  –  –  

 132,312  243,900  783  265

Less: Non-pledged bank deposits classified as          

  non-current portion –  (15,600 ) –  –     

 Pledged bank deposits (786 ) (787 ) –  –      

Cash and cash equivalents 131,526  227,513  783  265  

At the balance sheet date, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) 

amounted to HK$22,614,000 (31 March 2006: HK$65,168,000). The RMB is not freely convertible 

into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted 

to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

22,614,000 65,168,000
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21. Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits (continued)
Cash at banks and pledged bank deposits earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit 

rates. Short term bank deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months 

depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short 

term bank deposit rates. Non-pledged bank deposits of HK$15,600,000 classified as current (31 March 

2006: non-current) portion is made for a period of three years which will mature on 13 April 2008, 

and earn interest at interest rates ranging from 3% to 4.75% per annum. The Group is not entitled to 

withdraw the bank deposits without the bank’s prior consent and the bank may at its absolute discretion 

refuse to give such consent. These bank deposits are non-assignable and non-chargeable, except to the 

bank.

The bank deposits of HK$786,000 are pledged to the local tax authority for an overseas branch of the 

Group as at 30 June 2007.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents, the non-pledged bank deposits and the pledged 

deposits approximate to their fair values.

22. Trade creditors and accruals 

 Group  Company 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

       

in HK$ thousand         

Trade creditors 47,584  61,402  –  –  

Accruals 137,202  134,636  1,338  2,787   

 184,786  196,038  1,338  2,787

1 3

15,600,000

3% 4.75%

786,000
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22. Trade creditors and accruals (continued)
An aged analysis of the trade creditors as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as 

follows:

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

0 to 30 days 43,013  52,800  0 30

31 to 60 days 2,894  6,223  31 60

61 to 90 days 933  1,969  61 90

Over 90 days 744  410  90

 47,584  61,402

The trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. The carrying 

amounts disclosed above approximate to their fair values.

23. Due to related companies
The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable within 30 days of the 

invoice date. The carrying amounts approximate to their fair values.

30

30
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24. Provisions
Group

 Long service  Other

 payments  provision  Total

 (note a)  (note b) 

in HK$ thousand a   b     

At 1 April 2006 583  –  583  

Additional provision 789  6,628  7,417  

Amounts utilised during the period (41 ) –  (41 ) 

Reversal of unutilised amounts (98 ) –  (98 ) 

At 30 June 2007 1,233  6,628  7,861  

Portion classified as current liabilities –  (6,628 ) (6,628 ) 

Long term portion 1,233  –  1,233  

Notes:

(a) The Group provides for the probable future long service payments expected to be made to employees under the 
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, as further explained under the heading “Employee benefits” in note 2.4 
to the financial statements. The provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which 
have been earned by the employees from their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.

(b) Other provision is made in relation to a tax claim from the local tax authority on an overseas branch of the 
Group relating to the underpayment of value added tax during the period from January 2001 to May 2003. The 
provision is based on directors’ best estimation of the probable future payments.

(a) 
2.4

(b) 
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25. Deferred tax
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the period are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities – 2007
Group

 Depreciation

 allowance in

 excess of related  Revaluation

 depreciation  of properties  Total

 

in HK$ thousand   

At 1 April 2006 701  –  701  

 

Deferred tax credited to the income        

 statement during the period        

 (note 10) (415 ) –  (415 )  10

Deferred tax debited to equity        

 during the period –  2,272  2,272   

Exchange realignment 36  –  36  

Gross deferred tax liabilities       

 at 30 June 2007 322  2,272  2,594   
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25. Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets – 2007
Group

 Depreciation in 

 excess of related

 depreciation

 allowance  Others  Total

 

in HK$ thousand     

At 1 April 2006 1,355  1,317  2,672  

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to        

 the income statement during         

 the period (note 10) (1,355 ) 457  (898 )  10

Gross deferred tax assets       

 at 30 June 2007 –  1,774  1,774   

Net deferred tax liabilities        

 at 30 June 2007     820   
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25. Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities – 2006
Group

 Depreciation 

 allowance in

 excess of related 

 depreciation

 

in HK$ thousand   

At 1 April 2005 498  

Deferred tax charged to the income statement during the year (note 10) 184  10

Exchange realignment 19  

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 March 2006 701  
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25. Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets – 2006
Group

 Depreciation in

  excess of related

 depreciation

 allowance  Others  Total

 

in HK$ thousand     

At 1 April 2005 2,061  886  2,947  

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to        

 the income statement during         

 the year (note 10) (706 ) 431  (275 )  10

Gross deferred tax assets       

 at 31 March 2006 1,355  1,317  2,672   

Net deferred tax assets        

 at 31 March 2006     1,971   

The Group has estimated tax losses of HK$17,120,000 (31 March 2006: HK$16,274,000) and estimated 
deductible temporary differences of HK$1,370,000 (31 March 2006: HK$1,611,000) arising in Hong 
Kong, that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 
the losses arose. The Group also has estimated tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$12,695,000 
(31 March 2006: HK$437,000) and in Taiwan of HK$62,648,000 (31 March 2006: HK$29,998,000) 
that can be used to offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose for 
a maximum of five years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is 
uncertain if sufficient future taxable profits will be generated against which the tax losses can be utilised.

17,120,000

16,274,000

1,370,000 1,611,000

12,695,000

437,000 62,648,000

29,998,000

5
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25. Deferred tax (continued)
At 30 June 2007, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (31 March 2006: Nil) for 

taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of a subsidiary of the Group.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 

shareholders.

26. Share capital
Shares

 Company 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Authorised:     

 2,000,000,000 (31 March 2006: 2,000,000,000)       2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000

  ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 200,000  200,000    0.10

Issued and fully paid:     

 1,574,579,394 (31 March 2006: 1,568,911,394)       1,574,579,394 1,568,911,394

  ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 157,458  156,891    0.10
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26. Share capital (continued)
Shares (continued)
During the period, the movement in share capital was as follows:

 Number of   Issued share  Share premium

 shares in issue  capital  account  Total

 

   HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

       

At 1 April 2005, 31 March 2006         

 and 1 April 2006 1,568,911,394  156,891  1,855  158,746   

Exercise of share options (note a) 5,668,000  567  827  1,394  a

At 30 June 2007 1,574,579,394  157,458  2,682  160,140  

Note:

(a) The subscription rights attaching to 5,668,000 share options were exercised at the subscription price of 
HK$0.175 per share (note 27), resulting in the issue of 5,668,000 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash 
consideration, before expenses, of HK$992,000, and the related share option reserve of HK$402,000 was 
transferred to the share premium account upon the exercise of these share options.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are 

included in note 27 to the financial statements.

(a) 5,668,000 0.175 (
27) 5,668,000 0.10

992,000 ( )
402,000

27
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27. Share option scheme
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating and 

providing incentives to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations, and 

to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are 

valuable to the Group and any entities in which the Group holds equity interests (the “Invested Entities”).

Eligible participants of the Scheme include executive directors, non-executive directors (including 

independent non-executive directors), and other full-time or part-time employees of the Company, the 

Company’s subsidiaries and the Invested Entities. The Scheme became effective on 27 November 2003 

and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted 

under the Scheme and any other future share option schemes of the Company (excluding share options 

lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other future share option schemes of the 

Company) shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 30 August 2005, the date 

of Annual General Meeting that the Company seeks the approval of the shareholders of the Company 

for refreshing the 10% limit under the Scheme. The number of shares issuable under the Scheme was 

adjusted to approximately 156,891,139 which represented 10% of the Company’s shares in issue at 30 

August 2005. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each participant in the 

Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the total number of shares of the Company 

in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ 

approval in a general meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

10

10%

10%

156,891,139

10% 12

1%
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27. Share option scheme (continued)
Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to 

any of their respective associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 

directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is a grantee of the share options). 

In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive 

director of the Company, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the 

Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares 

at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ 

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon 

payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 

options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends 

on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the share options. Options granted 

during the term of the Scheme and remain unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year 

period of the Scheme shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant within the 

exercise period for which such options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the 

highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of the share 

options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days 

immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

12

0.1%

5,000,000

28

1

10

10

(i)

(ii) 5

(iii)
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27. Share option scheme (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the period:

  Price of the Company’s 

 Number of share options  shares (note c)

  
  

               Exercise   Immediately At exercise

   Granted  Exercised  Forfeited  Expired      price of before the  date of

Name or category At  during  during  during  during  At  Date of grant of Exercise period  share exercise  options

of participants 1 April 2006  the period  the period  the period  the period  30 June 2007  share options of share options options  date

             (note a)  (note b)

                

                   

               HK$  HK$ HK$

               per share  per share  per share

               

Directors 
Ms. CHAN So Kuen 1,332  –  –  –  –  1,332  2 December 2003 2 December 2004 to 0.175 – –

              1 December 2013

              

              

 3,333,334  –  –  –  –  3,333,334  2 December 2003 2 December 2006 to 0.175 – –

              1 December 2013

              

              

 3,333,334  –  –  –  –  3,333,334  2 December 2003 2 December 2008 to 0.175 – –

              1 December 2013

              

              

 6,668,000  –  –  –  –  6,668,000
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  Price of the Company’s 

 Number of share options  shares (note c)

  

                 Exercise   Immediately At exercise

   Granted  Exercised  Forfeited  Expired      price of before the  date of

Name or category At  during  during  during  during  At  Date of grant of Exercise period  share exercise  options

of participants 1 April 2006  the period  the period  the period  the period  30 June 2007  share options of share options options  date

             (note a)  (note b)

                

               

               HK$  HK$ HK$

               per share  per share  per share

               

Directors 
Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie 1,332  –  –  (1,332 ) –  –  2 December 2003 2 December 2004 to 0.175 – –

 (note d)              1 December 2013

              

              

 3,333,334  –  –  (3,333,334 ) –  –  2 December 2003 2 December 2006 to 0.175 – –

              1 December 2013

              

              

 3,333,334  –  –  (3,333,334 ) –  –  2 December 2003 2 December 2008 to 0.175 – –

              1 December 2013

              

              

 6,668,000  –  –  (6,668,000 ) –  –

27. Share option scheme (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the period:
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  Price of the Company’s 

 Number of share options  shares (note c)

  

                 Exercise   Immediately At exercise

   Granted  Exercised  Forfeited  Expired      price of before the  date of

Name or category At  during  during  during  during  At  Date of grant of Exercise period  share exercise  options

of participants 1 April 2006  the period  the period  the period  the period  30 June 2007  share options of share options options  date

             (note a)  (note b)

                

               

               HK$  HK$ HK$

               per share  per share  per share

               

Other employees 
In aggregate 7,996  –  (2,000 ) (332 ) –  5,664  2 December 2003 2 December 2004 to 0.175 0.470 0.481

              1 December 2013
              
              

 16,000,002  –  (5,666,000 ) (334 ) –  10,333,668  2 December 2003 2 December 2006 to 0.175 0.470 0.481
              1 December 2013
              
              

 16,000,002  –  –  (3,333,334 ) –  12,666,668  2 December 2003 2 December 2008 to 0.175 – –
              1 December 2013
              
              

 32,008,000  –  (5,668,000 ) (3,334,000 ) –  23,006,000

 45,344,000  –  (5,668,000 ) (10,002,000 ) –  29,674,000

27. Share option scheme (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the period:



BOSSINI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 137

27. Share option scheme (continued)
Notes:

(a) The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

(b) The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other 
similar changes in the Company’s share capital, and was adjusted for the issue of bonus shares on 14 September 
2004 from HK$0.35 to HK$0.175 each.

(c) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the share options is the 
weighted average of the Stock Exchange closing prices immediately before the dates on which the options were 
exercised over all of the exercises of options within the disclosure line.

(d) Mr. FU Shing Kwan Dickie resigned as a director of the Company on 26 June 2006. All unexercised share options 
held by him lapsed on 26 September 2006 in accordance with the Scheme.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted on 2 December 2003 was estimated as at the date 

of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 

upon which the options were granted.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 29,674,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, 

which represented approximately 1.9% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date. The exercise 

in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result 

in the issue of 29,674,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital 

of approximately HK$2,967,000 and share premium of approximately HK$2,226,000 (before issue 

expenses). The related share option reserve of HK$2,106,000 will be transferred to the share premium 

account upon the exercise of the share options.

The 5,668,000 share options exercised during the period resulted in the issue of 5,668,000 ordinary 

shares of the Company and new share capital of HK$567,000 and share premium of HK$425,000 

(before issue expenses). The related share option reserve of HK$402,000 was transferred to the share 

premium account upon the exercise of these share options, as further detailed in note 26 to the financial 

statements.

(a) 

(b) 
0.35

0.175

(c)  

(d) 

-

29,674,000

1.9%

29,674,000

2,967,000

2,226,000

2,106,000

5,668,000 5,668,000

567,000 425,000 (

) 402,000

26
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27. Share option scheme (continued)
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, during the period from 3 July 2007 to 17 August 2007, a total 

of 10,336,000 share options were exercised, and resulted in the issue of 10,336,000 ordinary shares of 

the Company and new share capital of HK$1,034,000 and share premium of HK$775,000 (before issue 

expenses). The related share option reserve of HK$734,000 will be transferred to the share premium 

account upon the exercise of the share options.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 4 July 2007, a total of 44,000,000 share options were granted 

to certain directors and employees of the Company in respect of their services to the Group in the 

forthcoming years. These share options vest on the date of grant and have an exercise price of HK$0.53 

per share and an exercise period ranging from 4 July 2008 to 3 July 2017. The price of the Company’s 

shares at the date of grant was HK$0.53 per share, which is the Stock Exchange closing price on the 

trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the options.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 61,004,000 share options 

outstanding under the Scheme, which represented approximately 3.8% of the Company’s shares in issue 

as at that date.

28. Reserves
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current period and prior 

year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 59 to 61 of the 

financial statements.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years remain 

eliminated against consolidated retained profits and consolidated capital reserve.

The amounts of goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries prior to the adoption of SSAP 

30 in 2001, remaining in the consolidated capital reserve of HK$25,969,000 and consolidated 

retained profits of HK$2,069,000 as at 30 June 2007.

10,336,000 10,336,000

1,034,000 775,000

( )

734,000

44,000,000

0.53

0.53

61,004,000

3.8 %

59 61

30

25,969,000 2,069,000
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28. Reserves (continued)
(b) Company

  Share    Share

  premium  Contributed  option  Retained

 Notes account  surplus  reserve  profits  Total

in HK$ thousand    

Balance at 1 April 2006  1,855  157,616  2,000  6,425  167,896  

Loss for the period  –  –  –  (165 ) (165 ) 

Issue of shares 26 827  –  (402 ) –  425  

Equity-settled share option arrangements 27 –  –  186  –  186  

At 30 June 2007  2,682  157,616  1,784  6,260  168,342  

Balance at 1 April 2005  1,855  157,616  1,309  8,176  168,956  

Profit for the year  –  –  –  54,729  54,729  

Equity-settled share option arrangements 27 –  –  691  –  691  

Interim 2006 dividend  –  –  –  (28,240 ) (28,240 ) 

Proposed final 2006 dividend  –  –  –  (28,240 ) (28,240 ) 

At 31 March 2006  1,855  157,616  2,000  6,425  167,896  

The contributed surplus of the Company originally represented the difference between the nominal 

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries 

and the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of acquisition, at the 

time of the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1993. Under the 

Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company may make distributions to its shareholders out of 

the contributed surplus.
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28. Reserves (continued)
(b) Company (continued)

The share option reserve of the Group and the Company comprises the fair value of share options 

granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based 

payment transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred 

to the share premium account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained 

profits should the related options expire or be forfeited.

29. Operating lease arrangements
(a) As lessor

The Group sub-leases certain of its retail properties under operating lease arrangements, with leases 

negotiated for terms ranging from three to six years. The terms of the leases also require the tenants 

to pay security deposits.

At 30 June 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable 

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Within one year 635  2,044  

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 907  1,392  

After five years 182  –  

 1,724  3,436

2.4
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29. Operating lease arrangements (continued)
(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its offices, retail outlets and warehouse properties under operating lease 

arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to eleven years.

At 30 June 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases falling due as follows:

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Within one year 302,251  251,998  

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 374,895  286,746  

After five years 11,444  6,856  

 688,590  545,600

The operating lease rentals of certain retail outlets are based solely on the sales of those outlets. 

In the opinion of the directors, as the future sales of those retail outlets could not be accurately 

estimated, the relevant rental commitments have not been included above.

At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases.
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30. Commitments
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 29(b) above, the Group had the 

following commitments at the balance sheet date:

Capital commitments

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Contracted, but not provided for:     

 Leasehold improvements 421  1,011   

 Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 64  321   

 Computer software 3,584  4,738   

 4,069  6,070

Authorised, but not provided for:     

 Leasehold improvements 1,497  –   

 Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 423  –   

 Computer software 58  –   

 1,978  –

 6,047  6,070

At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any significant commitments.

29(b)
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31. Contingent liabilities

 Group 
 

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

in HK$ thousand     

Bank guarantees given in lieu of utility and property    

 rental deposits 1,580  1,510  

The Company has given guarantees in favour of banks to the extent of HK$433,000,000 (31 March 

2006: HK$455,000,000) in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. These facilities 

were utilised to the extent of HK$25,085,000 as at 30 June 2007 (31 March 2006: HK$23,873,000).

32. Litigation
(a) A High Court action (the “WDC Action”), which commenced on 10 June 1998, was brought 

against J & R Bossini Trading Limited (“Bossini Trading”), a subsidiary of the Company, by Weiland 

Development Company Limited (“WDC”), for breach of a lease (the “Lease”) relating to a property 

used by Bossini Trading as a warehouse for a minimum amount of approximately HK$7,248,000. 

Bossini Trading is defending the WDC Action and had counter-claimed against WDC for a 

declaration that the Lease was lawfully terminated. As at the date of this report, the directors believe 

that it is not practicable to estimate the possible extent of the liability of Bossini Trading, if any, in 

respect of this action. However, the directors are of the opinion that the claim is unlikely to succeed 

based on the merits of the case and therefore, the directors consider that no material liability is likely 

to result therefrom.

433,000,000 455,000,000

25,085,000

23,873,000

(a) Weiland Development Company Limited WDC

WDC

7,248,000 WDC WDC
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32. Litigation (continued)
(b) Two High Court actions (the “Actions”), which both commenced on 24 July 1998, were brought 

against Bossini Trading by Sano Screen Manufacturing Limited and Tri-Star Fabric Printing Works 

Limited (collectively called the “Plaintiffs”), for breach of leases relating to properties used by 

Bossini Trading as warehouses. Judgements in respect of the Actions were awarded in favour of 

the Plaintiffs against Bossini Trading on 16 June 2000 for an amount not exceeding HK$2,467,000, 

together with interest thereon from the date of the said judgements to the date of payment at the 

judgement rate, and the costs of the Actions. As at the date of this report, no payment has been 

made by Bossini Trading.

A winding-up order was made against Bossini Trading on 28 January 2002. So far as the directors are 

aware, with a winding-up order having been made against Bossini Trading, WDC would require leave of 

the courts to continue the WDC Action and such leave has not been obtained.

With respect to the Actions, the Plaintiffs would likely be ranked as unsecured creditors in the event of 

any distribution of assets upon the winding-up of Bossini Trading.

As Bossini Trading has minimal assets and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has provided 

any guarantees or sureties in respect of the liabilities of Bossini Trading, the directors consider that there 

would be no significant adverse impact on the financial position of the Group as a result of any action 

taken by the Plaintiffs to enforce the judgements against Bossini Trading or any unfavourable judgement 

being made against Bossini Trading upon leave of the courts being granted to WDC to continue the 

WDC Action.

(b) Sano Screen Manufacturing Limited Tri-Star Fabric Printing 

Works Limited

2,467,000

WDC

WDC WDC

WDC WDC
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33. Related party transactions
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 

Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the period:

 Group 
 

  Period ended  Year ended

  30 June 2007  31 March 2006

    

 Notes   

in HK$ thousand      

Rental paid for warehouse premises (i) 1,550  1,152  

Rental paid for office premises (ii) 7,275  5,559  

Purchases of garments (iii) 267,985  256,321  

Sales of equipment (iv) 928  –  

Notes:

(i) The rental was paid to Laws International Group Limited (“Laws International”) for the period from 1 April 
2005 to 31 August 2005, and to Bright City International Limited (“Bright City”) for the period from 1 
September 2005 to 30 June 2007, as Laws International had transferred its ownership of the warehouse 
to Bright City on 18 August 2005. Certain directors of Laws International and Bright City, who have 
beneficial equity interests therein, are relatives of Mr. LAW Ka Sing, a director and substantial shareholder 
of the Company. The rental was determined by reference to open market rents at the inception of the 
tenancy agreement. As the rental is settled monthly, the Group had no outstanding rental payable to Laws 
International and Bright City as at 30 June 2007 (31 March 2006: Nil).

(ii) The rental was paid to Bright City and was determined by reference to open market rents at the inception 
of the tenancy agreement. As the rental is settled monthly, the Group had no outstanding rental payable to 
Bright City as at 30 June 2007 (31 March 2006: Nil).

(iii) During the period, garments totalling HK$267,985,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: HK$256,321,000) 
were purchased from certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Laws International. The purchases were 
determined by reference to the prevailing market prices. The balance owing to these suppliers as at 30 June 
2007 was HK$19,558,000 (31 March 2006: HK$23,573,000).

(a) 

(i) 

( )

(ii) 

(iii) 
267,985,000
256,321,000

19,558,000
23,573,000
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) During the period, certain equipment was sold to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Laws International 
totalling HK$928,000 (year ended 31 March 2006: Nil). The sales consideration was determined at the net 
carrying amount of the equipment sold. The Group had no outstanding sales proceeds receivable from 
these purchasers as at 30 June 2007 (31 March 2006: Nil).

The related party transactions in notes (i), (ii) and (iii) above also constitute continuing connected 

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s trade balances with related companies as at the balance sheet date are 

included in note 23 to the financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

 Period ended  Year ended

 30 June 2007  31 March 2006

   

 

in HK$ thousand     

Short term employee benefits 23,218  15,795  

Post-employment benefits 272  189  

Share-based payments 186  691  

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 23,676  16,675  

(a) 

(iv) 
928,000

(i) (ii) (iii) 14A

(b) 

23

(c) 

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements. 8
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34. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash and bank and time 

deposits, bills payable and interest-bearing bank loans. The main purpose of these financial instruments 

is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities 

such as debtors, deposits paid, and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally forward currency contracts. The 

purpose is to manage the currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, foreign 

currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for 

managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation 

to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 

interest-bearing loans with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost by reducing its bank borrowings. The Group fully repaid 

its interest-bearing loans during the period.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from the sale and the investments 

in foreign operations in currencies other than the United States dollar and the Hong Kong dollar. 

Approximately 47% (year ended 31 March 2006: 48%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in 

currencies other than the United States dollar and the Hong Kong dollar. It is the Group’s policy to enter 

into forward currency contracts to mitigate foreign exchange risk arising from material transactions 

denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar and the Hong Kong dollar.

At 30 June 2007, the Group had forward currency contracts with an aggregate nominal amount of 

HK$126 million to manage its foreign currency risk in Singapore dollars and Taiwan dollars.

2.4

47%

48%

1.26
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34. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk
The Group trades primarily in cash and major credit cards, and it is the Group’s policy to demand deposits 

for wholesales made on credit terms. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 

and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group places cash and cash equivalents with reputable banks to minimise the credit risk thereof.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets arises from default of the counterparty, with a 

maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility by keeping 

adequate credit facilities from banks. The Group had credit facilities from banks of HK$320 million and 

only HK$25 million was utilised as at 30 June 2007.

35. Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 October 

2007.

3.20 2.5
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Company information 

Hong Kong

52% (52%)

Mainland China

21% (22%)

Global distribution network   

Key financial indicators  

Taiwan

16% (17%)

Singapore

10% (9%)

Malaysia

1% (0%)

* Inventory held at period end divided by annualised revenue times 365 days 365
† Time deposits, cash and bank balances less bank loans 

Financial performance   

Change of financial year end date   
The financial year end date has been changed. Accordingly, the financial period 2006/07 covers the 15-month period ended 30 June 2007, while the financial year 2005/06 covers the 12-month period ended 31 March 2006. The 

difference in duration of the two financial periods should be considered when making year-on-year comparisons.

Revenue by geographical market   
For the period ended 30 June 2007 

 Period ended Year ended
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006 

Change

Inventory turnover* (days)  * 54 42  12 days 
Inventory level (in HK$mn) 306 254  20%
Return on equity (%) 1% 18%  17% pts 
Current ratio (times)  2.28 2.35  3%
Net cash† (in HK$mn)  † 132 244  46%
Total liabilities to equity ratio (%)  47% 46%  1% pt 
Capital expenditure (in HK$mn)  106 81  31%

  At At 
  30 June 2007 31 March 2006  
  Change

Hong Kong  
 Directly managed outlets 41 33  8

Mainland China  
 Directly managed outlets 346 344  2
 
 Franchised outlets 205 284  79
 
 Sub-total 551 628  77

Taiwan  
 Directly managed outlets 93 112  19
 

Singapore  
 Directly managed outlets 33 29  4
 

Malaysia  
 Directly managed outlets 11 3  8
 

Other countries  
 Export franchised outlets 322 263  59
 

Total 
 Directly managed outlets 524 521  3
 
 Franchised outlets 527 547  20
 

  1,051 1,068  17

( ) Figures for the year ended 31 March 2006 are shown in brackets 

Financial and operational highlights  

Regional performance analyses  

* Same store sales growth is the comparison of sales of the same stores having full month operations in comparable periods (no comparison for Malaysia as the operation in financial year 2005/06 was not on a full year term) 

  Profit/(loss) from operating 
  activities (in HK$mn)
 Sales (in HK$mn) Operating margin (%)

Period ended Year ended  Period ended  Year ended   Period ended Year ended
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006 30 June 2007 31 March 2006   30 June 2007 31 March 2006
    

  Change     Change   Change
         

Retail  

Hong Kong  935 815  15% 18  51   65% 2% 6%  4% pts 

Mainland China  425 351  21% (34 ) (9 ) 278% -8% -3%  5% pts 

Taiwan  416 379  10% (53 ) (10 ) 430% -13% -3%  10% pts 

Singapore 245 200  23% 4  19   79% 2% 10%  8% pts 

Malaysia  18 1 1,700% (3 ) (1 ) 200% -17% -100% 83% pts 

Total  2,039 1,746  17% (68 ) 50   236% -3% 3%  6% pts 

Franchise 

Hong Kong Export  389 291  34% 114  86   33% 29% 30% 1% pt 

Mainland China  112 110  2% 8  15   47% 7% 14%  7% pts 

Total 501 401  25% 122  101   21% 24% 25%  1% pt 

Regional Total  

Hong Kong  1,352 1,130  20% 116  125   7% 9% 11%  2% pts 

Mainland China  537 490  10% (27 ) 7   486% -5% 1%  6% pts 

Taiwan  416 379  10% (53 ) (10 ) 430% -13% -3%  10% pts 

Singapore  245 200  23% 4  19   79% 2% 10%  8% pts 

Malaysia  18 1   1,700% (3 ) (1 ) 200% -17% -100% 83% pts 

Consolidated  2,568 2,200  17% 37  140   74% 1% 6%  5% pts 

 As a percentage of total revenue  

 

Retail  17% (16%)

Franchise  4% (5%)

Others – (1%)

 As a percentage of total revenue 

 

Retail  36% (37%)

Export franchise 15% (13%)

Others 1% (2%)

Regional retail performance indicators 

 Same store sales growth (%)* Net sales per sq.ft. (in HK$) Floor area (sq. ft.)
*

 Period ended Year ended Period ended Year ended   
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006 30 June 2007 31 March 2006  At At

 30 June 2007 31 March 2006
Change Change

Hong Kong  -7% -5% 5,700 7,300  22% 149,600 111,400  34%

Mainland China  -1% -9% 1,100 1,200  8% 300,000 307,300  2%

Taiwan  -14% -11% 2,000 2,500  20% 136,400 176,000  23%

Singapore  -13% +3% 6,000 6,400  6% 36,200 32,000  13%

Malaysia  N/A  N/A  1,400 1,100 27% 14,700 4,400 234%

Consolidated  -8% -5% 2,500 2,900  14% 636,900 631,100  1%

 In HK$mn In HK$mn

 Period ended  Year ended 
 30 June 2007 31 March 2006

Change

Revenue  2,568 2,200  17%
Gross profit 1,270 1,025  24%
Profit from operating activities  37 140  74%
Profit for the period/year attributable to equity holders  

9 105  91%
Basic EPS (in HK cents)  0.59 6.69  91%

Interim dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8 100%
Final dividend per share (in HK cents)  – 1.8  100%
Payout ratio (%)  – 54%  54% pts 

Gross margin (%)  49% 47% 2% pts 
Operating margin (%)  1% 6% 5% pts 
Net margin (%)  0.4 5% 5% pts 

EBITDA  110 191  42%
EBITDA margin (%)  4% 9%  5% pts 



(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock code : 592)
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